Carboxylesterase 1 and Precision Pharmacotherapy

by

Lucy Hyejin Her

A dissertation submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy (Pharmaceutical Sciences) in the University of Michigan 2021

Doctoral Committee:

Associate Professor Haojie Zhu, Co-Chair Professor David Smith, Co-Chair Associate Professor Hui Jiang Professor Duxin Sun Lucy Hyejin Her

lucyher@umich.edu

ORCID iD: 0000-0003-0340-2323

© Lucy Hyejin Her 2021

Dedication

To my family, Misuk Yang, Kwangjai Her, Yongki Her, and Theresa Hyengju Her,

for their love, support, and inspiration.

With love, always.

Acknowledgements

I first want to thank my role model and advisor, Dr. Haojie Zhu. It was a great honor to be his first Ph.D. student and learn from him for the past five years. I hope that I can one day be a great researcher and a mentor like Dr. Zhu. I would also like to thank my dissertation committee for support and guidance: Dr. David Smith, Dr. Duxin Sun, and Dr. Hui Jiang.

I had many wonderful mentors and teachers: Dr. Stan Kent, Dr. Barry Bleske, Dr. Ming Tai, Dr. Mustapha Beleh, Dr. James Dalton, Dr. Michelle Kujawski, Dr. Anasuya Hazra, and Dr. Gonzalo Izaguirre. Thanks for believing in me and giving me an opportunity to grow as a pharmacist and a scientist. I am here because of you.

I am lucky to be part of the Zhu Lab: Dr. Xinwen Wang, Dr. Jian Shi, Dr. Bing He, Dr. Logan Smith, Jason Xiao, Sunny Jung, JP Li, and Dr. Heejae Choi. I would like to give special thanks to Heejae and Sunny, for staying late with me to prepare the PK sample in the lab.

To my wonderful friends and colleagues, Minzhi Yu, Hongxiang Hu, Xiaoqi Sun, Justin Hong, Alex Benet, Michael Constantine, Richard Marszalek, Dr. Alex Yu, Dr. Kristina Kan, Dr. Krysta Walter, Dr. Kwanghee Yoo, Dr. Sunghoon Hur, Dr. Sangyup Lee, Dr. Brenda Shih, and Dr. William Chang, thanks for inspiring me to be a better version of myself. I deeply care for you all.

iii

Lastly, I would like to thank my family, Kwangjai Her, Misuk Yang, and Theresa Her for their love and support. I would also like to thank the anonymous donor from South Korea. We will be forever grateful for your selfless acts of kindness.

Table of Contents				
Dedication	ii			
Acknowledgements	iii			
List of Figures	vii			
List of Tables	ix			
Abstract	x			
Chapter 1: Background and Literature Review ¹	1			
1.1 Importance of CES1 in Drug Metabolism	1			
1.2 Pharmacogenetics of Drug-Metabolizing Enzymes	3			
1.3 CES1 Pharmacogenetics	4			
1.4 The Loss-of-Function CES1 Variant G143E (rs71647871)	6			
1.5 Clinical Impact of CES1 Variant G143E	8			
1.6 Pharmacogenetics of Other CES1 Genetic Variants	17			
1.7 Non-Genetic Factors Affecting CES1 Expression and Activity	30			
1.8 Drug-Drug Interactions	31			
1.9 Disease States Related to CES1	36			
Chapter 2: Effect of CES1 Genetic Variation on Enalapril Steady-State Pharm	nacokinetics			
and Pharmacodynamics in Healthy Subjects ¹¹¹	39			
2.1 Abstract				
2.2 Introduction	40			

2.3 Materials and Methods	42		
2.4 Results	48		
2.5 Discussion	54		
Chapter 3: A Liquid Chromatography - Parallel Reaction Monitoring Mass Spe	ectrometry		
Method for the Quantification of Enalapril and its Active Metabolite Enalaprila	it in Human		
Plasma ¹⁴³	58		
3.1 Abstract	58		
3.2 Introduction	59		
3.3 Materials and Methods	60		
3.4 Results	64		
3.5 Conclusion	71		
Chapter 4: Identification of CES1 Regulatory Variants Using an Allele-Specific Protein			
Expression (ASPE) Method	72		
4.1 Abstract	72		
4.2 Introduction	73		
4.3 Materials and Methods	75		
4.4 Results	83		
4.5 Discussion	87		
Chapter 5: Conclusions and Future Directions91			
Bibliography	94		

List of Figures

Figu	ure 1-1 CES1 gene structure and haplotypes. CES1 gene consists of 14 exons located on chromosome 16q13-q22.1, and CES1P1 is a pseudogene, lying tail-to-tail with CES1. CES1, CES1P1 and their variants CES1 VAR and CES1P1 VAR form four major haplotypes. Red represents where the stop codon is located at. The transcription efficiency of CES1P1 VAR is approximately 2% of CES1.
Figu	ure 1-2 D-methylphenidate comes as a single active ingredient (Focalin®) or in combination with I-methylphenidate (racemic mixture) (Ritalin®). D-methylphenidate is approximately 10 times more pharmacologically potent than I-methylphenidate, while I-methylphenidate is a better CES1 substrate. Ethylphenidate can be formed via transesterification with ethanol9
Figu	ure 1-3 Clopidogrel metabolic pathway. Clopidogrel is a non-ester-prodrug that needs to be activated by two oxidation reactions via CYPs. Clopidogrel and its intermediate and active metabolites are all metabolized (deactivated) by CES1
Figu	ure 1-4 ACE inhibitors (enalapril and trandolapril) metabolism. Enalapril and trandolapril are ester-prodrugs that need to be activated by CES114
Figu	ure 1-5 Dabigatran metabolic pathway. Dabigatran is a prodrug that activated by both CES1 and CES216
Figu	ure 2-1 CES1-mediated enalapril activation41
Figu i i	ure 2-2 Study Design. 635 subjects were initially screened but only 275 of them met the inclusion/exclusion criteria. 275 subjects were invited to the screening visit #1 to sign the informed consent form and to provide the saliva sample for the CES1 genetic testing. Based on their CES1 G143E genotypes, subjects were stratified into the G143E carrier group (n=6) and the G143E non-carrier group (n=15). All participants in both groups completed the physical assessment and routine laboratory test to ensure their kidney and liver functions are normal. All participants took 10 mg of enalapril for 7 consecutive days, and a 72-hour PK study was conducted on the 7 th day
Figu	ure 2-3 The profiles of the time-plasma concentrations of enalapril (left) and enalaprilat (right). Left panel shows enalapril concentrations (ng/mL) over time (hour), and right panel shows enalaprilat (active metabolite) concentrations (ng/mL) over time (hour). G143E carriers (i.e., CES1 slow metabolizers) are represented as a blue color, and G143E non-carriers (i.e., CES1 normal metabolizers) are represented as a gray color. Enalapril concentrations were slightly higher in the carrier group compared with the non-carrier group.

Figure 2-4 Enalaprilat concentrations (ng/mL) vs time (hour) were plotted on a semi-log scale (left panel). Red represents the average enalaprilat concentrations in the G143E carrier group (i.e., CES1 slow metabolizers), and blue represents the averages in the G143E50

Figure 2-5 Major PK parameters comparison between the CES1 G143E carrier and non-carr	ier
groups. The CES1 G143E carrier group (red) had 27.5% lower AUC0- ∞ (P = 0.027) and	
30.9% lower enalaprilat Cmax (P = 0.03) compared to the non-carrier group (blue). The	
carrier group (red) also had a 32.3% lower enalaprilat-to-enalapril AUC0-∞ ratio (P = 0.00)3)
compared to the non-carrier group (blue).	51

Figure 2-6 The paired sample t-test was performed to examine the difference between the baseline SBP and the SBP at the end of the study on each study arm. Blood pressure-lowering effect of enalapril in the CES1 G143E carriers and non-carriers. The non-carrier group had approximately 12.4% lower SBP at the end of the study compared to the baseline (P = 0.001). There was no statistically significant blood pressure reduction observed in the G143E carriers.

Figure 3-1 Mass spectra showing both the precursor and product ions of enalapril (A),
enalaprilat (B), and their isotope-labeled internal standard enalapril-d5 (C) and enalaprilat-
d5 (D)63

Figure 3-2 Representative LC-MS/MS chromatograms of blank plasma, plasma at the lower	
limit of quantifications (LLOQ, 0.5ng/mL) and plasma samples from an enalapril PK study	/ in
humans (2-hour post-dosing of 10mg enalapril). Enalapril-d5 and Enalaprilat-d5	
chromatograms are also included	65

Figure 3-4 A plasma concentration-time profile of enalapril and enalaprilat in a healthy hur subject after 10 mg enalapril oral administration for 7 consecutive days (a preliminary F study).	nan ²K 69
Figure 4-1 ASPE Concept	75
Figure 4-2 CES1 Expression	83
Figure 4-3 Conventional GWAS could not detect any CES1 regulatory variant affecting the expression level detect, probably due to the heavy background noise	€ 84
Figure 4-4 Statistical Analysis; impact of rs6499788 and rs35918553 on CES1 ASPE and CES1 protein expression	total 85
Figure 4-5 Validation; impact of rs6499788 and rs35918553 on CES1 protein expression a catalytic activity on enalapril hydrolysis.	and 85

List of Tables

Table 1-1 List of CES1 Substrates 2
Table 1-2 In vitro kinetics of wild type CES1 in human liver S9 fractions (HLS9). 8
Table 1-3 CES1 SNPs and their impacts on the PK and PD of CES1 substrate medications24
Table 1-4 Drug-Drug Interaction Summary
Table 2-1 Inclusion and exclusion criteria of the study46
Table 2-2 Baseline characteristics of study participants49
Table 2-3 Summary of PK parameter53
Table 3-1 Summary of intra-day and inter-day accuracy and precision of LC-MS/MS assay for the determination of enalapril and enalaprilat in human plasma (n=3). 67
Table 3-2 Matrix effect of enalapril and enalaprilat in human plasma (n=3 with water, n=6 with plasma).
Table 3-3 Stability of enalapril and enalaprilat in human plasma under different conditions (n=3).
Table 4-1 Statistical Analysis 82
Table 4-2 Summary of the SNP 86
Table 4-3 Impact of rs6499788 on CES1 protein expression and catalytic activity on enalapril hydrolysis
Table 4-4 Impact of rs35918553 on CES1 protein expression and catalytic activity on enalapril hydrolysis 87

Abstract

Carboxylesterase 1 (CES1) is a major phase I drug-metabolizing enzyme, responsible for 80-95% of total hydrolytic activity in human livers. CES1 plays a crucial role in the metabolism of a wide range of drugs, pesticides, environmental pollutants, and endogenous compounds. The clinical relevance of CES1 has been well demonstrated in various clinical trials with methylphenidate, oseltamivir, and clopidogrel. Expression and activity of CES1 vary markedly among individuals, which is a major contributing factor to interindividual variability in the pharmacokinetics (PK) and pharmacodynamics (PD) of drugs metabolized by CES1. The loss-of-function SNP G143E (rs71647871) is the only clinically significant CES1 variant identified to date.

A multi-dose, prospective pharmacogenetics, pharmacokineticspharmacodynamics (PGx-PK/PD) clinical trial was conducted in healthy volunteers (n=21) to examine the impact of G143E on the PK and PD of a CES1 substrate, enalapril. Enalapril 10mg was given once daily for seven consecutive days to the G143E carriers (n=6) and the G143E non-carriers (n=15) prior to a 72h PK/PD study. The study found the CES1 G143E carriers had 30.9% lower enalaprilat C_{max} (P = 0.03), 27.5% lower enalaprilat AUC_{0-∞} (P = 0.02), and 32.3% lower enalaprilat-to-enalapril AUC_{0-∞} ratio (P = 0.003) compared to the non-carriers. The average maximum reduction of systolic blood pressure (SBP) was used as the PD surrogate marker. The non-carrier group had 12.4% lower SBP at the end of the study compared to the baseline (P = 0.001), while no statistically significant SBP reduction was observed in the G143E carriers. The study confirmed the CES1 G143E variant significantly impacted the PK and PD of enalapril.

G143E, however, can only explain a small portion of the interindividual variability in the CES1 function. A better understanding of the regulation of CES1 expression and activity could lead to the development of a precision pharmacotherapy strategy to improve the efficacy and safety of many CES1 substrate drugs. Here, we developed a novel allele-specific protein expression (ASPE) assay to identify genetic variants regulating CES1 protein expression in human livers. The ASPE method adopted a custom-designed heavy stable isotope-labeled QconCAT internal standard and utilized a nonsynonymous variant, S75N (rs2307240), as the marker to determine the allelic expression of CES1. Two cis-acting regulatory variants (rs6499788, rs35918553) were found to be associated with CES1 ASPE and protein expression in human liver microsome (HLM) samples (P < 0.05). The effects of the two variants were further validated by the CES1 protein expression and activity studies in human liver S9 fractions (HLS9) (P < 0.05). We expect that combining all identified functional CES1 variants (e.g., G143E, rs6499788, and rs35918553) will provide a more holistic view of CES1 pharmacogenetics and allow us to better predict the PK and PD of medications metabolized by CES1.

xi

Chapter 1: Background and Literature Review¹

1.1 Importance of CES1 in Drug Metabolism

Carboxylesterase 1 (CES1) is a phase I drug-metabolizing enzyme (DME) responsible for 80-95% of total hydrolytic activity in the liver ²; it metabolizes a wide range of drugs, pesticides, environmental pollutants, and endogenous compounds, including lipid esters (Table 1-1). CES1-mediated metabolism can lead to the biotransformation of a pharmacologically active drug into its inactive metabolite, as exemplified by methylphenidate hydrolysis in the liver. CES1 also plays an important role in activating prodrugs since most ester-containing prodrugs are exclusively dependent on CES1 for their activation. The clinical relevance of CES1 has been well demonstrated in various clinical trials with oseltamivir, methylphenidate, and clopidogrel ³⁻⁶. Recent studies have also revealed that CES1 acts as a cholesteryl ester hydrolase in lipid metabolism in human macrophages and hepatocytes and suggest CES1 as a potential drug target for the treatment of metabolic diseases, such as diabetes and atherosclerosis ⁷⁻¹¹.

CES1 plays an important role in metabolizing many clinically significant medications, especially the ester-prodrugs (Table 1-1). A prodrug refers to an inactive drug molecule that needs to be enzymatically biotransformed *in vivo* to its active metabolite to produce its intended pharmacological effect ¹². Prodrug design offers an attractive method to overcome the issue of low bioavailability for Biopharmaceutics Classifications System (BCS) class III drug molecules. Drug molecules can be categorized into four BCS classes based on permeability and solubility, and a BCS class III substance is a hydrophilic compound with low permeability and high solubility ¹³. In particular, hydrophilic compounds with –OH or –COOH functional groups usually have difficulty being absorbed into the body, and drug developers often mask these functional groups using an ester-prodrug design. The prodrug market has been growing: 20% of drugs approved in 2015 were prodrugs, compared to ~6% of all currently approved drugs ¹⁴.

ACE Inhibitors	CNS Agents	Antihyperlidpidemia Agents
Enalapril*	Methylphenidate	Simvastatin*
Imidapril*	Cocaine	Lovastatin*
Benzapril*	Heroin	Clofibrate
Quinapril*	Mepridine	Fenofibrate
Ramipril*	Flumazenil	
Trandolapril*	Rufinamide	
		Chemical Warfare
Antiviral Agents	Anticancer Agnet	Agents
Oseltamivir*	Capecitabine*	Sarin
Sofosbuvir*	Irinotecan	Soman
Tenofovir alafenamide*	Telotristat etiprate*	Tabun
Endogenous		
Compounds	Antiplatlets/Anticoagulants	Pesticides
Cholesterol	Clopidogrel	trans-permethrin
Fatty acid ethyl esters	Dabigatran*	Para-nitrophenyl valerate
	Immunosuppressive	
ARNI	Agents	Others
sacubitril*	Mycophenolate mofetil*	Dimethyl fumarate*
	Ciclesonide	Oxybutynin
*Drodruge that pood C	ES1 activation	

 Table 1-1 List of CES1 Substrates.

*Prodrugs that need CES1 activation

Two major assumptions behind the ester-prodrug design are that prodrugs are

rapidly activated via unspecific esterases in the body, and that the interindividual

variability in activating a prodrug is clinically insignificant. These incorrect assumptions may have stemmed from the fact that many hydrolytic enzymes exist in the body, such as CES1, CES2, acetylcholinesterase, butyrylcholinesterase, paraoxonases, and arylesterase. However, these hydrolases differ in their tissue-specific expression, cellular localization, and most importantly, substrate selectivity ¹⁵. In humans, CES1 is highly abundant in the liver and expressed to a less extent in the lung and brain; CES1 expression is considered negligible in the human intestine, kidney, and plasma. CES1 is substrate-selective towards carboxyl esters with a large ethyl group and a small alcohol group. In comparison, CES2, another major carboxylesterase in humans, is highly expressed in the intestine, kidney, and liver, and is more efficient at metabolizing compounds with a small ethyl group and a large alcohol group ¹⁶. Numerous *in vivo* and *in vitro* studies have demonstrated the specificity of CES1, and many CES1 substrates cannot be metabolized by other esterases.

CES1 expression and activity vary significantly among individuals ¹⁷; this variability could result in treatment failure and unexpected adverse effects of CES1 substrate drugs. A better understanding of the genetic and non-genetic factors contributing to CES1 variability will improve the design and clinical use of many drugs that are metabolized (deactivated/activated) by CES1.

1.2 Pharmacogenetics of Drug-Metabolizing Enzymes

Traditionally, fixed-dose regimens have been used for most medications. However, different individuals taking the same dose of medication do not necessarily achieve the same drug exposure and hence drug response. More individualized, patient-centered dosing regimens have been developed based on a patient's characteristics, such as renal clearance, liver function, body weight, and surface area ¹⁸. In addition, genetic polymorphisms of DMEs have been found to play an important role in response to pharmacotherapy, and pharmacogenomics has been increasingly utilized in the clinic to improve the efficacy and safety of drug treatment. DMEs serve to primarily detoxify digested xenobiotics through four general mechanisms: hydrolysis (e.g., carboxylesterase), reduction (e.g., carbonyl reductase), oxidation (e.g., cytochrome P450), and conjugation (e.g., UDP-glucuronosyltransferase) ¹⁹. The expression and activity of DMEs vary significantly among individuals, and studying pharmacogenomics of DMEs is one means of better understanding interindividual variability in the PK and PD of a drug. For example, the active metabolite of irinotecan, SN-38, is primarily metabolized by the enzyme UDP glucuronosyltransferase family 1 member A1 (UGT1A1 enzyme)²⁰. If a patient carries the common UGT1A1*28 polymorphism, the decrease it causes in UGT1A1 enzymatic activity would impede the metabolism of SN-38, leading towards the accrual of toxic concentrations. Accordingly, the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) recommended that patients with UGT1A1*28/*28 start irinotecan at a lower dose ²¹. However, given that both genetic and environmental factors contribute to DME function, we should also pay close attention to non-genetic contributors when studying the variability of DMEs.

1.3 CES1 Pharmacogenetics

Although CES1 plays a critical role in the metabolism of many clinically important medications, CES1 pharmacogenetics is understudied relative to other major DMEs (e.g., CYP450s). CES1 is encoded by the *CES1* gene, consisting of 14 exons located

4

on chromosome 16q13-q22.1. CES1 VAR is a variation of the CES1 gene that differs in exon 1 DNA sequences and has an average minor allele frequency (MAF) of 17%. Although one study claimed that CES1 VAR mRNA was undetectable ²², an *in vitro* human liver study showed that the protein expressions of CES1 and CES1 VAR were not statistically different ¹⁷. CES1P1 is a pseudogene due to a premature stop codon in exon 4 and lies tail-to-tail with CES1 (Figure 1-1)¹⁷. Interestingly, a CES1P1 variant named CES1P1 VAR is a functional coding gene with a DNA sequence identical to CES1 VAR. However, the transcription efficiency of CES1P1 VAR is only 2% of that of CES1, due to the transcription factor Sp1, and the enhancer-binding protein C/EBPa preferring to bind to the CES1 promoter over the CES1P1 VAR promoter ^{23,24}. Due to the existence of the CES1 VAR and CES1P1 VAR variants, four CES1/CES1P1 haplotypes can be formed (Figure 1-1). In addition to these structural variations, there are over 7000 CES1 SNPs registered in the NCBI SNP database, and approximately 300 of them have MAFs over 1%. These common CES1 variants (MAF > 1%) are distributed in various regions of the gene, including 13 in 5'-UTR and 3'-UTRs, 14 in exons, and 308 in introns. Of the exonic SNPs, 12 are non-synonymous SNPs and two are synonymous SNPs. In the following section, we discuss the clinical findings and mechanistic bases of functional CES1 variants identified to date.

5



Figure 1-1 CES1 gene structure and haplotypes. CES1 gene consists of 14 exons located on chromosome 16q13-q22.1, and CES1P1 is a pseudogene, lying tail-to-tail with CES1. CES1, CES1P1 and their variants CES1 VAR and CES1P1 VAR form four major haplotypes. Red represents where the stop codon is located at. The transcription efficiency of CES1P1 VAR is approximately 2% of CES1.

1.4 The Loss-of-Function CES1 Variant G143E (rs71647871)

In SNP notation, G143E indicates an amino acid change from glycine to glutamic acid at amino acid position 143. G143E is also termed 428G>A, indicating that the nucleotide guanine is changed to adenine at position 428 of the *CES1* mRNA ¹⁸. The MAF of G143E is 3.7%, 4.3%, and 2%, in White, Hispanic, and African American populations, respectively, while the SNP is extremely rare in Asian populations ^{5,25}.

G143E is a non-conservative amino acid substitution located near the activesite triad residues of CES1 (serine 221, glutamic acid 354, and histidine 468). Serine hydrolases share a similar catalytic mechanism involving (1) nucleophilic attack from oxygen in the serine residue on a substrate ester bond, (2) formation of a tetrahedral intermediate where the deprotonated oxygen is stabilized via an oxyanion hole, (3) formation of an acyl-enzyme intermediate, and (4) water-catalyzed hydrolysis ²⁶. For CES1 to maintain its enzymatic function, the catalytic triad and oxyanion hole need to be conserved ^{5,27}. The change from glycine (hydrophobic residue) to glutamic acid (electrostatic residue) at codon 143 disrupts the hydrophobicity needed for the oxyanion hole (Gly 141-131), resulting in a complete loss of function of CES1. The G143E is the only CES1 SNP that has been subjected to *in vitro* kinetics studies, in which the variant exhibited null catalytic activity on all tested CES1 substrates except for oseltamivir (Table 1-2). The V_{max} of G143E on oseltamivir hydrolysis was 37 nmol/min/mg with catalytic efficiency of 17.2 µl/min/mg protein — this was approximately 16% of wild type CES1 catalytic efficiency ²⁸.

	HLS9			
CES1 Substrates	Vmax (pmol/min/m g protein)	Km (µM)	Catalytic Efficiency (Vmax/Km, μl/min/mg protein)	Reference
Clopidogrel	3558.6	62.7	56.8	
2-oxoclopidogrel (clopidogrel intermediate)	158.1	2.4	65.9	Zhu ²⁹
Enalapril	67.5	60.1	1.1	
Ramipril	18100	690.4	26.2	
Perindopril	18100	1767	23.3	Wang ¹⁷
Moexipril	4400	1457	12.7	
Fosinopril	1400	471.3	3.0	
I-methylphenidate	1701	775.7	2.2	-71 5
d-methylphenidate	177.2	663.5	0.3	Znu°
Oseltamivir	145000	1380	105.1	Zhu ²⁸
Trandolapril	103600	639.9	161.9	Zhu ³⁰
Dabigatran	1174	33.5	35.0	Laizure ³¹

Table 1-2 In vitro kinetics of wild type CES1 in human liver S9 fractions (HLS9).

1.5 Clinical Impact of CES1 Variant G143E

1.5.1 Discovery of G143E and its Impacts on Methylphenidate PK and PD

G143E is the first loss-of-function (LOF) variant known for *CES1* and was originally discovered in a methylphenidate (Ritalin[®]) PK study in healthy volunteers. Methylphenidate is a central nervous system stimulant, the most commonly prescribed medication for ADHD treatment and has high abuse potential when used with alcohol ³². Its drug product comes as a racemic mixture of d- and I-methylphenidate hydrochloride; d-methylphenidate is approximately 10 times more pharmacologically potent than I-methylphenidate ³³.

Methylphenidate is metabolized by de-esterification via CES1 to ritalinic acid, an inactive metabolite which accounts for approximately 80% of the recovered dose in human urine (Figure 1-2) ^{32,34}. In 2007, a prospective single-dose (0.3 mg/kg) PK study was conducted in twenty healthy volunteers to examine the DDI between methylphenidate and alcohol ³⁵. During this study, the researchers unexpectedly found a participant that showed significantly elevated pharmacokinetic parameters (e.g., AUC, C_{max}) of methylphenidate. Specifically, dl-methylphenidate C_{max} was seven times higher, and l-methylphenidate C_{max} was 100-fold higher in this poor metabolizer compared to the rest participants. Later analysis found that this poor metabolizer carried the G143E polymorphism in *CES1* and the D260fs polymorphism in *CES1P1*⁵. This study also concluded that while CES1 metabolism is substantially stereoselective towards l-methylphenidate, d-methylphenidate metabolism is also significantly impacted by CES1 dysfunction.



Figure 1-2 D-methylphenidate comes as a single active ingredient (Focalin®) or in combination with I-methylphenidate (racemic mixture) (Ritalin®). D-methylphenidate is approximately 10 times more pharmacologically potent than I-methylphenidate, while I-methylphenidate is a better CES1 substrate. Ethylphenidate can be formed via transesterification with ethanol.

Following the discovery of the G143E variant, a retrospective study was conducted to examine the methylphenidate response in Hungarian ADHD patients with G143E (n=7) and non-carrier patients (n=115). Even though the CES1 genotype could not explain the entire interindividual variability between responders (n=90) and nonresponders (n=32), the study demonstrated an association between G143E polymorphism and methylphenidate dose reduction: five responders who had the G143E polymorphism required lower doses of methylphenidate for symptom reduction (0.410 vs 0.572 mg/kg, P=0.022) ³⁶. In 2017, a healthy volunteer study confirmed the significance of G143E in the PK of methylphenidate. In this open-label, prospective clinical trial (n=22), study participants carrying the G143E SNP (n=6) had approximately 152.4% higher median AUC of d-methylphenidate (53.3ng×ml⁻¹×h⁻¹) than the non-carrier group (21.4 ng×ml⁻¹×h⁻¹) (P<0.0001) ³⁷.

The above studies suggest that G143E carriers may be at high risk of being exposed to a toxic methylphenidate concentration. This result is clinically impactful because methylphenidate is considered the first-line pharmacotherapy for ADHD, with approximately 40 million prescriptions dispensed every year ³⁸. This result could potentially explain why many patients have an unsatisfactory response to the treatment. Further clinical studies in ADHD patients with larger sample sizes are needed to fully understand the effect of CES1 variants on the efficacy and toxicity of methylphenidate, and how methylphenidate doses should be adjusted based on a patient's CES1 genotypes.

10

1.5.2 G143E and Clopidogrel (Plavix®)

Clopidogrel is a P2Y12 inhibitor and has several clinical indications, including myocardial infarction prophylaxis, cerebrovascular accident prophylaxis, and peripheral arterial occlusive disease prophylaxis. Clopidogrel is usually considered the first-line antiplatelet agent due to its proven efficacy and cost-effectiveness ³⁹⁻⁴¹. Clopidogrel is a non-ester-prodrug that needs to be activated by two oxidation reactions via several CYPs (Figure 1-3). CYP2C19 pharmacogenetics and its impact on clopidogrel activation have been extensively studied. The Clinical Pharmacogenetics Implementation Consortium (CPIC) guideline and the FDA both recommend intermediate and poor metabolizers of CYP2C19 to use an alternative antiplatelet agent, such as ticagrelor or prasugrel ⁴². Clopidogrel, its intermediate, and active metabolites are all CES1 substrates and metabolized by CES1 to inactive hydrolytic metabolites (Figure 1-3). Approximately, 85% of clopidogrel is hydrolyzed by CES1, and only 15% of clopidogrel enters the CYPs-mediated activation pathway ²⁹. Thus, patients with CES1 dysfunction would have a higher concentration of clopidogrel active metabolite compared to normal CES1 metabolizers when taking the same dose. However, the impact of CES1 on the PK and PD of clopidogrel is less studied than the impacts of CYPs.

11



Figure 1-3 Clopidogrel metabolic pathway. Clopidogrel is a non-ester-prodrug that needs to be activated by two oxidation reactions via CYPs. Clopidogrel and its intermediate and active metabolites are all metabolized (deactivated) by CES1.

Two clinical trials support that CES1 G143E carriers have significantly higher plasma concentrations of clopidogrel active metabolite compared to non-carriers. A retrospective sub-analysis was performed on participants of the Pharmacogenomics of Antiplatelet Intervention (PAPI) Study (n=506) and on clopidogrel-treated patients at Sinai Hospital (n=350) to examine the effect of *CES1* G143E on clopidogrel metabolism. Study participants received a 300mg loading dose of clopidogrel followed by a 75mg maintenance dose for six days, and platelet aggregation was measured as a PD marker. A 50% higher active metabolite concentration was observed in G143E carriers

(n=7, 30.3 ng/ml) compared to non-carriers (n=499, 19.0 ng/mL) (P=0.001). In addition, the inhibition of adenosine diphosphate (ADP)-induced platelet aggregation was 24% higher in G143E carriers (reduced to 71% from baseline) relative to non-carriers (reduced to 57% from baseline) (P=0.003) ^{3,4,43}. Another prospective, single-dose, healthy volunteer (n=22) clinical study was conducted by Tarkiainen et al. to determine the effect of CES1 G143E on clopidogrel metabolism. The authors found that the AUC₀₋ ∞ ratio of clopidogrel carboxylic acid (inactive metabolite (1) in Figure 1-3) to clopidogrel was 53% less in G143E carriers (n=10) than non-carriers (n=12) (P=0.009). The G143E carriers also exhibited significantly higher plasma concentrations of the parent compound clopidogrel (P = 0.004) and its active metabolite (P = 0.009) compared to non-carriers. In agreement with the PK findings, the average inhibition of P2Y12mediated platelet aggregation in the carriers was 19 percentage points higher than in non-carriers (P = 0.036)^{29,44}. The findings of the above two studies are especially important for patients on triple antithrombotic therapy with a high bleeding risk ⁴⁵⁻⁴⁷. Clopidogrel dose adjustment may be necessary to prevent potential toxicity (i.e., bleeding) in patients with CES1 dysfunction.

1.5.3 G143E and Angiotensin-Converting Enzyme Inhibitors (ACEIs)

Angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors (ACEIs) are generally considered to be the first-line therapy for heart failure and hypertension, and approximately 150 million ACEI prescriptions are filled in the US annually ⁴⁸. Currently, eight out of ten FDAapproved ACEIs are ester-containing prodrugs, and all ACEI prodrugs need to be activated by CES1 in order to exert their intended therapeutic effects ^{49,50}. The activation is essential for the pharmacological effects as the active metabolites are 101,000 times more potent than their prodrug forms ⁵¹. Therefore, patients with CES1 dysfunction would have a lower concentration of the ACEI active metabolite relative to normal CES1 metabolizers (Figure 1-4).



Figure 1-4 ACE inhibitors (enalapril and trandolapril) metabolism. Enalapril and trandolapril are ester-prodrugs that need to be activated by CES1.

A prospective, single-dose pharmacokinetic clinical study was conducted in healthy volunteers to examine the effect of the G143E variant on the activation of the ACEI prodrugs enalapril and quinapril. The AUC_{0- ∞} of the enalapril active metabolite enalaprilat was found to be 20% lower in the G143E carriers (n=10) than in non-carriers (n=12) (P=0.049) ⁵². This finding is consistent with an *in vitro* study that showed that enalapril activation was impaired in liver samples carrying the G143E variant ¹⁷. However, the AUCs_{0- ∞} of the quinapril and its active metabolite (quinaprilat) were not significantly different between carriers and non-carriers (P=0.114). A prospective, single-dose pharmacokinetic clinical trial with trandolapril also reported no statistically significant differences in PK parameters between the CES1 G143E carriers and the non-carrier group ⁵³. Further investigations are warranted to fully understand the effect of *CES1* variants on the PK and PD of ACEI prodrugs.

1.5.4 G143E and Oseltamivir (Tamiflu[®])

Oseltamivir is an antiviral drug that has an FDA indication for influenza types A and B infections. Even though oseltamivir is rarely effective due to its specific administration requirement (i.e., this medication should be taken within 2 days of onset of symptoms in order to reduce flu duration by approximately one day), oseltamivir remains one of the most prescribed drug products due to flu epidemics ^{54,55}. As an ester-prodrug, oseltamivir needs to be activated by CES1 into its active metabolite, oseltamivir carboxylate ⁵⁶. An *in vitro* study based on cell lines stably transfected with CES1 variants suggested the G143E SNP markedly impaired CES1 activity in oseltamivir activation ²⁸.

To examine the effect of G143E on oseltamivir PK and activation, a prospective, single-dose pharmacokinetic clinical study was conducted in healthy volunteers consisting of nine G143E heterozygotes, one G143E homozygote, and 12 non-carriers. The AUC_{0- ∞} ratio of oseltamivir carboxylate (active metabolite) to oseltamivir (parent molecule) was 23% lower in G143E heterozygotes compared to non-carriers (P = 0.006). The one G143E homozygous individual had an AUC_{0- ∞} of oseltamivir that was approximately 360% greater than the non-carriers, indicating that loss of CES1 activity could profoundly impair oseltamivir activation ⁶.



Figure 1-5 Dabigatran metabolic pathway. Dabigatran is a prodrug that activated by both CES1 and CES2.

1.5.5 G143E and Dabigatran and Aacubitril

Dabigatran and sacubitril are both prodrugs that need to be activated by CES1 in the liver (Figure 1-5). *In vitro* studies showed that the formation rates of the active metabolites of dabigatran and sacubitril were significantly lower in human livers carrying the G143E variant than in non-carrier samples ^{57,58}. However, it remains undetermined whether the variant can affect the activation and therapeutic response of these two drugs in patients.

1.6 Pharmacogenetics of Other CES1 Genetic Variants

In addition to G143E, many other *CES1* variants have been studied for their effects on the PK and PD of CES1 substrate drugs. However, the results were generally inconclusive, and further studies are needed to determine the clinical significance of these variants.

1.6.1 E220G (rs200707504)

A nonsynonymous variant E220G, commonly referred to as c.662A>G, was suggested to decrease CES1 enzymatic activity in an *in silico* analysis ⁵⁹. In agreement with that prediction, an *in vitro* study on transfected cell lines found E220G markedly decreased CES1 activity and the metabolisms of several CES1 substrates, including enalapril, clopidogrel, and sacubitril ⁶⁰. Notably, E220G has a MAF of 0.55% in East Asians but is rare in other populations. To determine the clinical impact of E220G on the PK of a CES1 substrate, a single-dose oseltamivir (75mg) PK study was conducted in 20 healthy Korean volunteers. In this study, the variant was observed to have a marginal effect on the PK of oseltamivir and its active metabolite (oseltamivir

17

carboxylate); however, the differences were statistically insignificant. In the E220G carriers (n=8), the AUC_{0-48h} of oseltamivir was increased by 10% (P = 0.334), and the AUC_{0-48h} of oseltamivir carboxylate was decreased by 5% (P = 0.513) relative to the non-carriers (n=12) ⁵⁹.

1.6.2 S75N (rs2307240)

S75N is one of the most common CES1 nonsynonymous SNP with MAFs ranging from 2% to 7% in different populations. A retrospective pharmacodynamics analysis was conducted to examine the effect of *CES1* S75N on the outcome of clopidogrel therapy in patients with the coronary syndrome (n=851). The result showed that CES1 S75N carriers (n=372) had higher incidence of cerebrovascular events (P < 0.001), acute myocardial infarction (P < 0.001), and unstable angina (P < 0.001) compared to non-carriers. The study also found that the S75N polymorphism was more frequent in acute coronary syndrome patients (MAF 22%) than in the general population (MAF 5%). The authors concluded that there was a significant association between the S75N polymorphism and the outcome of clopidogrel therapy ⁶¹. However, this result conflicts with another study that found the S75N variant to be not associated with the outcomes of ADHD patients treated with methylphenidate ⁶². Furthermore, an *in vitro* study showed the S75N variant did not significantly alter the expression and activity of CES1 in transfected cells and human livers ⁶⁰.

1.6.3 -816A>C (rs3785161)

The -816A>C polymorphism is located in the promoter region of *CES1P1 VAR* and has been suggested as a potential up-regulator of *CES1P1 VAR* expression ²⁴. A

prospective clinical study was conducted to examine the impact of -816A>C on the outcome of the ACEI prodrug (imidapril) therapy in hypertensive patients (n=105). The study found that after eight weeks of imidapril therapy, -816A>C homozygotes and heterozygotes (n=47) had greater systolic blood pressure reduction (24.1 mmHg) compared to non-carriers (17.6 mmHg) (P = 0.0184), indicating increased CES1 functionality in the carriers. The follow-up *in vitro* study claimed that the -816A>C SNP might have enhanced transcription of the *CES1P1 VAR* gene ⁶³. The -816A>C SNP was also evaluated for its impact on the outcomes of dual antiplatelet therapy (i.e., aspirin and clopidogrel) in patients with coronary heart diseases (n=162). The -816A>C carriers (n=75) had decreased vasodilator stimulated phosphoprotein-platelet reactivity index (VASP-PRI) (P=0.014), indicating increased CES1 function in the carriers ⁶⁴.

However, conflicting findings were reported by other studies. A study involving the outcome of clopidogrel treatment in patients undergoing percutaneous coronary intervention, -816A>C carriers showed a lower ADP-induced maximum platelet aggregation (21.5%, n=125) compared to non-carriers (31.7%, n=124) (P=0.001), indicating decreased CES1 function ⁶⁵. Zhu et al. also performed a retrospective pharmacogenetic analysis of the INternational VErapamil SR Trandolapril (INVEST) study (n=486) and did not find an association between -816A>C and the blood pressure-lowering effect of trandolapril. The follow-up *in vitro* study also showed - 816A>C genotype was not significantly associated with CES1 protein expression and trandolapril activation in human liver samples (n=100) ⁶⁶. Other researchers also noted that the *CES1P1 VAR* gene, which contains -816A>C, is considered functionally insignificant due to its low transcription efficiency ^{23,67}.

1.6.4 -75G>T (rs3815583)

The -75G>T SNP is located in the promoter region of *CES1* and was suspected to alter CES1 expression in the liver; however, the findings are conflicted. A study was performed to determine the association between the variant and appetite reduction (a side effect of methylphenidate) in children with ADHD (n=213). Appetite reduction was measured by the Barkley Stimulant Side Effect Rating Scale, and methylphenidate dose was titrated up for three months as tolerable. The carrier group (n=129) had worse appetite reduction compared to non-carriers (n=76) (41% vs. 77%, P=0.01), indicating that the variant was associated with decreased CES1 function ⁶⁸. A study in patients treated with irinotecan, however, showed a contrary finding, suggesting that the -75G>T variant confers greater CES1 function ⁶⁹. CES1 is involved in the conversion of the prodrug irinotecan to its active metabolite, SN-38, and then further metabolized by UGT1As to inactive SN-38G. Following irinotecan treatment, patients who carried the T allele of this variant had higher plasma (SN-38 + SN-38G)/irinotecan AUC ratios relative to non-carriers (P=0.027) following irinotecan treatment ⁶⁹.

Other CES1 substrates, isoniazid, and ACEI prodrugs were also studied in the context of -75G>T; however, no significant relationships were found between the variant and the medication responses. In one such study, the variant was evaluated for its effect on the outcomes of ACEI prodrugs in congestive heart failure patients (n=200) that underwent ACEI prodrug dose titrations. The study reported -75G>T did not significantly impact plasma ATII/ATI ratios; furthermore, the -75G>T variant was not significantly associated with fatal outcomes (i.e. cardiovascular death and all-cause

death) ⁷⁰. The study with isoniazid had similar results showing no significant association between the variant and isoniazid-induced hepatotoxicity (n=170) ⁷¹.

1.6.5 1168-33C>A (rs2244613)

Dabigatran (Pradaxa[®]) is a prodrug that needs to be activated by both CES1 and CES2 to exert its anticoagulant effect (Figure 1-5). Paré and associates conducted a genome-wide association study of dabigatran in participants (n=2944) of the Randomized Evaluation of Long-term Anticoagulation Therapy (RE-LY) clinical trial. The researchers concluded the CES1 intronic variant 1168-33C>A (rs2244613) is associated with lower trough concentrations of the active metabolite (15% decrease per allele; 95% CI 10-19%) and a lower risk of any bleeding (odds ratio, 0.67; 95% CI 0.55-0.82) compared to non-carriers ⁷². However, an *in vitro* study did not find the variant to be associated with CES1 protein expression and dabigatran metabolism in human livers ⁷³. A prospective study also examined the impact of 1168-33C>A in ADHD patients treated with methylphenidate, and found the variant to be associated with the occurrence of sadness, a side effect of short-acting methylphenidate. However, researchers concluded this might be due to linkage disequilibrium with two SNPs of the noradrenaline transporter gene ⁶².

1.6.6 Copy Number Variation (i.e., CES1P1/CES1P1 VAR)

Many researchers have studied the impact of CNVs on CES1 functionality; however, the results are conflicted. Stage et al. found that participants with four functional copies of CES1 (n=5) had an increased AUC of d-methylphenidate relative to the control group with two functional copies of CES1 (n=17) (61% increase, P = 0.011); participants with three copies of CES1 (n=2) had 45% increased AUC compared to the control group (P = 0.028) ³⁷. Stage et al. conducted a similar study with enalapril (n=43), however, they could not find a statistically significant correlation between CNV and enalapril PK ⁷⁴. When Sai et al. examined the effect of CNV on irinotecan exposure, they found patients with multiple CES1 copies (i.e., three or four) to have 1.24 fold higher irinotecan AUC relative to patients with two copies of CES1 (P = 0.0134) ⁶⁹. Many researchers, however, did not find the relationship between CNVs and CES1 function. Suzaki et al. evaluated the relationship between CNVs of *CES1* and oseltamivir PK parameters but did not find any correlation ⁷⁵. Nelveg-Kristensen et al. studied the relationship between CNV and ACEI prodrugs, and again, no association was found ⁷⁰. Moreover, an *in vitro* study showed CES1 protein expression levels to be comparable among human livers with different copy numbers of functional *CES1* gene ¹⁷.

1.6.7 Other CES1 SNPs

In addition to the polymorphisms discussed above, sporadic reports have stated several CES1 SNPs to be associated with the outcomes of CES1 substrate medications. For example, the SNP 1315 + 2025A>C (rs8192950) was associated with a decreased risk of ischemic events in patients (n=64) having symptomatic extracranial or intracranial stenosis and receiving dual antiplatelet therapy with clopidogrel for a minimum of five days ⁷⁶. Another retrospective sub-analysis of a capecitabine clinical study identified associations of 1168-41C>T (rs2244614), 690 + 129del (rs3217164), 95346T>C (rs7187684), -1232A>G (rs1186118) with severe early-onset of

capecitabine-induced toxicity ⁷⁷. None of these findings has been validated independently.

A rare LOF variant, D260fs (c.70DeIT), was reported in a clinical study ⁵. D260fs causes a deletion in exon 6, resulting in a frameshift and premature truncation. Moreover, an *in vitro* study with *CES1* variants transfected cell lines examined the SNPs proximate to the CES1 active site, and identified four LOF nonsynonymous SNPs: G142E, G147C, Y170D, and R171C. However, these variants appear to be clinically insignificant due to their low MAFs (< 0.4%) ⁷⁸.

The above-mentioned *CES1* SNPs and their impacts on the PK and PD of CES1 substrate medications are summarized in Table 1-3.

AA/Nucleot ide Change	Treatment	Population	Design/Outcome	Result	Conclusion
(rs7164787 1)	Methylpheni date Single dose of 0.3mg/kg	n=20 (with 1 carrier) Healthy volunteers	Prospective study Aim: To examine the interaction between methylphenidate and alcohol	The study unexpectedly found one volunteer with elevated PK parameters of methylphenidate; C _{max} of I-methylphenidate was 100 fold higher (62 ng/mL) compared to the rest of participants	The later analysis found this volunteer had G143E and D260fs SNPs, which resulted in elevated plasma concentration of methylphenidate
	Methylpheni date Dose adjusted based on symptom reduction x 1 month	n=122 (with 7 carriers) Hungarian ADHD patients	Retrospective study Outcome: methylphenidate dose reduction	G143E carriers needed lower doses of methylphenidate for symptom reduction compared to non-carriers (0.410 vs 0.572 mg/kg , p=0.022)	G143E impaired methylphenidate metabolism <i>in vivo</i>
	Methylpheni date Single dose 10mg	n=22 (with 6 carriers) Healthy Danish Volunteers	Open labeled, prospective, PK study	G143E carriers showed 152.4% higher AUC (53.3ng×ml ⁻¹ ×h ⁻¹) compared to the non-carrier group (21.4 ng×ml ⁻¹ ×h ⁻¹) (P<0.0001)	G143E carriers had higher exposure to methylphenidate compared to non-carriers
	Clopidogrel (1) PAPI patients received 300mg LD with 75mg MD	n=506 (with 7 carriers) n=350 (with 6 carriers)	Retrospective subanalysis of two clinical studies: (1) Pharmacogenomi cs of Antiplatelet Intervention	(1) A 50% higher active metabolite concentration was observed in G143E carriers (n=7, 30.3 ng/ml) compared to non-carriers (n=499, 19.0 ng/mL) (P=0.001)	G143E carriers had higher plasma concentrations of clopidogrel active metabolites, and consequently had a higher antiplatelet effect

Table 1-3 CES1 SNPs and their impacts on the PK and PD of CES1 substrate medications
(2) Patients from Sinai Hospital received either 300 or 600 mg LD (n= 204) with MD, or just received 75mg MD	Patient going through PCI	(PAPI) Study (2)Clopidogrel- treated patients at Sinai Hospital Outcome: (1) PK parameter: Clopidogrel and its active metabolite concentration (2)PD parameter: ADP-stimulated platelet aggregation	(2) The inhibition of ADP- induced platelet aggregation effect was 24% higher in G143E carriers (reduced to 71% from baseline) compared to non- carriers (reduced to 57% from baseline) (P=0.003)	
Clopidogrel Single-dose 600 mg	n=22 (with 10 carriers) Healthy volunteers	Prospective, PK/PD study PD outcome: Inhibition of P2Y12-mediated platelet aggregation	(1) AUC0- ∞ ratios of the clopidogrel carboxylic acid to clopidogrel was 53% less in G143E carriers (P=0.009) (2) Average inhibition of P2Y12- mediated platelet aggregation in the carriers was 19 percentage points higher in non-carriers (P = 0.036)	G143E carriers had higher exposure to clopidogrel active metabolite, and consequently had a higher antiplatelet aggregation effect
Enalapril, Quinapril Single Dose 10 mg Enalapril or Quinapril	n=22 (with 10 carriers) Healthy volunteers	Prospective PK study	(1) AUC0– ∞ of the enalapril active metabolite enalaprilat was 20% lower in the G143E carriers (n=10) compared to non-carriers (n=12) (P=0.049) (2) AUCs0- ∞ of the quinapril and its active metabolite (i.e., quinaprilat) were not significantly different between the non- carriers and carriers (P=0 114)	G143E carriers had a lower enalaprilat exposure compared to non-carriers

	Oseltamivir Single Dose 75mg	n=22 (with 9 G143E heterozygotes, 1 G143E homozygote) Healthy volunteers	Prospective PK Study	(1) The AUC _{0-∞} ratio of oseltamivir carboxylate (active metabolite) to oseltamivir (parent molecule) was 23% lower in G143E heterozygotes compared to non-carriers (P = 0.006) (2) The one G143E homozygous individual had an AUC _{0-∞} of oseltamivir that was approximately 360% greater than the non-carriers	G143E carriers had less exposure to oseltamivir active metabolite compared to non-carriers
	Dabigatran	n=102 human liver samples	<i>In vitro</i> study with human liver samples	The activation rates of DABE, M1 and M2 in G143E carriers were 53% (P = 0.018), 43% (P = 0.004), and 37% (P = 0.001) of normal carriers (after normalized by CES1 expression)	G143E carriers had a lower dabigatran activation rate, potentially resulting in a lower dabigatran active metabolite concentration in the carriers
	Sacubitril	n= 53 (with 5 carrier) human liver samples	<i>In vitro</i> study with human liver samples	The activation rates of sacubitril were lower in the carriers compared to the non-carriers (4.2 vs. 7.2 nmol/mg protein/min, P = 0.025)	G143E carriers had a lower sacubitril activation rate, potentially resulting in a lower sacubitril active metabolite plasma concentration in the carriers
E220G (rs2007075 04)	Oseltamivir 75mg single dose	n=20 (with 8 carriers)	Prospective, PK study	AUC _{0-48h} of oseltamivir was increased by 10% (P = 0.334) and AUC _{0-48h} of oseltamivir carboxylate was decreased by 5% (P = 0.513) in carriers	E220G appears to have no significant impact on oseltamivir activation in humans
S75N (rs2307240)	Clopidogrel 75mg x 1 year	n=851 (with 372 carriers)	Retrospective PD analysis Outcome: Cerebrovascular	CES1 S75N carriers (n=372) had more cerebrovascular events (P<0.001), acute myocardial infarction (P<0.001),	S75N appears to increase the function of CES1, resulting in the decreased efficacy of clopidogrel

			events, acute myocardial infarction, and unstable angina	and unstable angina (P<0.001) compared to non-carriers	
	Methylpheni date Weight based dosing x 6 weeks	n=44 (with 2 carriers) Children with ADHD	Naturalistic, prospective study Outcome: Side effect reported via behavioral questionnaires	No significant differences in methylphenidate side effect were found between carriers and non-carriers (p = 1)	S75N does not appear to affect the function of CES1
	Enalapril	n= 36 (with 3 carriers)	<i>In vitro</i> study with human liver samples	No statistical difference in enalapril activation rate or CES1 protein expression level between carriers and no carriers	S75N does not appear to affect the function of CES1
-816A>C (rs3785161)	imidapril 5-10 mg x 8 weeks	n=105 (with 47 carriers) Patients with hypertension	Prospective clinical study	Greater systolic blood pressure reduction (24.1 mmHg) was observed compared to non- carriers (17.6 mmHg) after 8 weeks of imidapril therapy (P = 0.0184)	-816A>C appears to up- regulate the CES1P1 VAR expression
	Clopidogrel 300 or 600 mg (LD) or 75 mg (MD) for minimum 5 days	n=162 (with 75 carriers) Patient on dual antiplatelet therapy (i.e., aspirin and clopidogrel) with coronary heart diseases	Retrospective PD analysis Outcome: Vasodilator Stimulated Phosphoprotein- Platelet Reactivity Index (VASP- PRI) to measure platelet reactivity	The carriers had decreased Vasodilator Stimulated Phosphoprotein-Platelet Reactivity Index (VASP-PRI) (45.93 vs 53.18%) (P=0.014)	-816A>C appears to up- regulate the CES1P1 VAR expression

	Clopidogrel 300mg LD + 75mg MD x 3 days	n=249 (with 108 heterozygous carrier, 17 homozygous carrier) Patient going throught PCI	Retrospective PD analysis Outcome: maximum platelet aggregation (MPA)	A lower ADP-induced maximum platelet aggregation (21.5%, n=125) was observed compared to non-carriers (31.7%, n=124) (P=0.001)	-816A>C appears to down-regulate the CES1P1 VAR expression
	Trandolapril 2-4mg x 104 weeks	 (1) n=486 (with 109 heterozygous carriers, 10 homozygous carriers) (2) n=100 (<i>in</i> <i>vitro</i> study) (26 heterozygous carriers, 3 homozygous carriers) 	 (1) Retrospective analysis of the INternational VErapamil SR Trandolapril Study (2) <i>In vitro</i> study with human liver samples Outcome: Blood Pressure 	 (1) No association between the - 816A>C and the blood pressure lowering effect of trandolapril (2) Not associated with CES1 protein expression and trandolapril activation in human liver samples 	-816A>C does not appears to be associated with overall CES1 function
-75G>T (rs3815583)	Methylpheni date Dose titrated up x 3 months as tolerable	n=205 (with 129 carriers)	Retrospective PD analysis Outcome: appetite reduction - the side effect of methylphenidate	The carriers had worse appetite reduction compared to non- carriers (41% vs 77%, P=0.01)	-75G>T appears to be associated with decreased CES1 function
	Irinotecan 100 mg m−2 weekly or 150 mg m−2 biweekly	n=177 177 Japanese cancer patients	Retrospective PK analysis	The carriers had higher plasma (SN-38 + SN-38G)/irinotecan AUC ratios relative to non- carriers (P=0.027)	-75G>T appears to be associated with higher CES1 function

	ACEI	n=200	Retrospective PD	The -75G>T genotypes did not	-75G>T was not
			analysis	significantly impact the plasma	associated with CES1
		Congestive heart		ATII/ATI ratios in the study	function
		failure patients		subjects or fatal outcomes (i.e.	
				cardiovascular death and all-	
				cause death)	
1168-	Dabigatran	n=2944 (with	Retrospective	The carriers had lower trough	1168-33C>A appears to
33C>A		587 carriers)	GWAS of	concentrations of the active	be associated with lower
(rs2244613)	110 or 150		Randomized	metabolite (15% decrease per	CES1 function
	mg twice	Patients with	Evaluation of	allele; $P=1.2 \times 10^{-8}$) and a lower	
	daily	atrial fibrillation	Long-term	risk of any bleeding (odds ratio,	
		(within 6	Anticoagulation	0.67; P=7×10 ⁻⁵) compared to	
		months) and	Therapy (RE-LY)	non-carriers	
		additional risk	clinical trial		
		factors for stroke			
			Outcome: Trough		
			concentrations of		
			dabigatran,		
			bleeding risk		
	Dabigatran	n=102 (with 29	In vitro study with	No association between 1168-	1168-33C>A appears to
		heterozygous	human liver	33C>A and dabigatran activation	be not associated with
		carriers and 5	samples		CES1 function
		homozygous			
		carriers)			

1.7 Non-Genetic Factors Affecting CES1 Expression and Activity

1.7.1 Developmental Expression of CES1

The developmental expression patterns of CES1 in human and mouse livers were similar, and many in vitro studies have suggested that hepatic CES1 protein expression increases with age ⁷⁹⁻⁸¹. An *in vitro* study with human liver samples (n=104) demonstrated the adult group (\geq 18 years of age) to have had higher CES1 expression than children (0 days-10 years); meanwhile, child group had higher CES1 expression than fetuses (82-224 gestation days). A follow-up study with liver microsomes showed that, in parallel with expression level, CES1 activity on hydrolyzing its substrate oseltamivir was also positively correlated with age ⁸². The same group did a similar in vitro human liver study with a slightly different age bracket, in which the liver samples were divided into five age groups: 1–31 days old (group 1), 35–70 days old (group 2), 89–119 days old (group 3), 123–198 days old (group 4), and over 18 years old (group 5). Neonates (group 1) had 10% of the CES1 expression and hydrolysis levels compared to the adult group (group 5); pediatric groups (Group 2-4) had approximately 50% of the CES1 expression and hydrolysis levels compared to an adult ⁸³. Lastly, a similar in vitro study quantified CES1 protein levels in human liver samples of various ages (n=165). CES1 expression levels were 4.76 pmol/mg from birth to three weeks (n=36); 15.8 pmol/mg for those aged three weeks to six years (n=90); and 16.6 pmol/mg for ages six years to 18 years (n=36). The study team concluded that the median CES1 expression level is directly correlated with age (P < 0.001)⁸⁰. Overall, CES1 expression and activity levels are lower in neonates and pediatric patients; further studies are

warranted to investigate the potential effect of CES1 maturation on the treatment outcome of CES1 substrate medications in patients in the early stages of development.

1.7.2 Sex Difference of CES1 Expression

Both *in vitro* and clinical studies have suggested that CES1 expression is higher in females than in males 35,57,79 . A PK study on healthy volunteers revealed that males had significantly higher exposure to d-methylphenidate than females 35 . Nonetheless, females experienced a more pronounced stimulant effect, despite their lower exposure. Shi et al. observed significantly higher CES1 activity in female human liver samples (n = 56) compared to male samples (n = 46). A follow-up *in vitro* study with dabigatran suggested CES1 activity was higher in females than males 57 . However, such difference was not observed in another *in vitro* study using human liver samples (n=32) and mouse liver samples (n=9) 79 . Further study is needed to examine the impact of sex on the CES1 expression level and the PK and PD of CES1 substrates.

1.8 **Drug-Drug Interactions**

1.8.1 CES1 Inhibitor - Alcohol

To date, ethanol is the only known CES1 inhibitor that has been confirmed in multiple *in vivo* and *in vitro* studies. The impact of ethanol on the metabolism of the CES1 substrate, methylphenidate, was tested in healthy volunteers (n=14) ⁸⁴. D-methylphenidate comes as a single active ingredient (Focalin®) or in combination with I-methylphenidate (racemic mixture, Ritalin®). D-methylphenidate is approximately ten times more pharmacologically potent than I-methylphenidate, while I-methylphenidate is a more efficient CES1 substrate (Figure 1-2). This clinical study used a pulsatile dosing regimen with methylphenidate (dI-methylphenidate 40 mg or d-methylphenidate 20 mg) and

ethanol (0.6 g/kg, four hours after methylphenidate dose) to eliminate any potential confounding effect of ethanol on methylphenidate absorption, as the methylphenidate drug products (i.e., Ritalin® and Focalin®) might undergo faster gastric dissolution in the stomach if administered with alcohol. When alcohol and d-methylphenidate (Focalin®) were co-administered, the C_{max} of d-methylphenidate was elevated by 27% (P = 0.001) and the AUC_{4 \rightarrow 8h} was elevated by 20% (P < 0.01); when alcohol and dlmethylphenidate (Ritalin[®]) were co-administered, the C_{max} of d-methylphenidate was elevated by 35% (P < 0.01) and the AUC_{4 \rightarrow 8h} was elevated by 25% (P < 0.05) ⁸⁴. These results are consistent with the previous clinical trial by Patrick et al. In that study, when alcohol and d-methylphenidate (Focalin®) were co-administered, the d-methylphenidate AUC was increased by 14%; when alcohol and dl-methylphenidate (Ritalin®) were coadministered, the d-methylphenidate AUC was increased by 21%⁸⁵. Patrick and colleagues also showed that the co-administration of alcohol 30 min before or 30 min after methylphenidate had a similar impact on methylphenidate exposure ³⁵. Both authors concluded that alcohol is a strong inhibitor of CES1, and the impact of CES1 inhibition is greater for dl-methylphenidate (Ritalin®) than for d-methylphenidate (Focalin®). Additionally, the DDI between methylphenidate and ethanol produced the transesterification metabolites d-ethylphenidate and l-ethylphenidate, and the plasma concentrations of I-ethylphenidate were much higher than d-ethylphenidate due to Iethylphehidate being a more efficient CES1 substrate ^{84,86}. Other *in vivo* studies with mice demonstrated similar results 87-89.

The impact of alcohol on the CES1 function was also examined in the context of a different CES1 substrate, oseltamivir. A prospective health volunteer PK study (n=18)

examined the interaction between oseltamivir 150mg (a recommended daily dose for the treatment of influenza) and alcohol. Alcohol increased the oseltamivir AUC_{0-6h} by 27% (P=0.011) and decreased the AUC_{0-6h} ratio of the active metabolite oseltamivir carboxylate to the parent compound oseltamivir by 34% (p<0.001) ⁹⁰. However, co-administration of alcohol did not significantly affect the AUC_{0-24h} of oseltamivir carboxylate. These results are consistent with *in silico* analysis of the DDI between alcohol and oseltamivir ⁹¹.

1.8.2 Other CES1 Inhibitors: Cannabis, Protease Inhibitors, Aripiprazole,

Isradipine, Tacrolimus, Valproate

Besides alcohol, many drug products on the market have been suggested to be potent inhibitors of CES1 mainly by *in vitro* investigations (Table 1-4). A further clinical study with a validated CES1 substrate is needed to determine the clinical significance of these CES1 inhibitors.

An *in vitro* study with CES1 transfected cells suggested that cannabis (i.e., THC, CBD, and CBN) can act as a potential CES1 inhibitor. The inhibition constant (Ki) values for THC, CBD and CBN were 0.541, 0.974, and 0.263 μ M (0.170, 0.306, and 0.0817 μ g/ml), respectively ⁹². This result could be clinically impactful as the use of cannabis is expected to increase in the next few years ⁹³.

Several protease inhibitors (i.e., nelfinavir, amprenavir, atazanavir, ritonavir, and saquinavir) were identified as CES1 inhibitors by an *in silico* analysis and later confirmed by an *in vitro* incubation study. Among those, nelfinavir had a significantly higher inhibitory effect than the other agents. The relative CES1 activity towards PNPA (a CES1 substrate) was 5.2%, 74.2%, 51.7%, 76.9%, and 67.8% of the control after

incubation with nelfinavir, ritonavir, amprenavir, saquinavir, and atazanavir, respectively 94.

An *in vitro* study suggested aripiprazole, perphenazine, thioridazine, and fluoxetine to be potent inhibitors of CES1, and a complementary animal study (n=10) with FVB mice demonstrated that co-administration of aripiprazole and methylphenidate (CES1 substrate) significantly increased the plasma concentrations of dl-methylphenidate (P < 0.01) ⁹⁵.

Moreover, a total of 27 cardiovascular, antiplatelet, anticoagulant and immunosuppressant drugs have been tested for CES1 inhibition using human liver microsomes and recombinant CES1. The results suggested isradipine (a dihydropyridine calcium antagonist, DHP) and tacrolimus (an immunosuppressive agent) to be potent CES1 inhibitors. CES1 activity towards PNPA was decreased to 17.6% with isradipine, and 28.4% with tacrolimus ⁹⁶.

An *In vitro* study suggested valproate could inhibit CES1 function and affect rufinamide metabolism in both microsomes and cytosol. This result could be clinically significant as the two antiepileptic medications are often prescribed together when monotherapy is ineffective ⁹⁷.

A combined ensemble docking and machine learning approach was utilized to identify potential CES1 inhibitors from 1114 FDA-approved drugs. Among the identified inhibitor candidates, four drugs, including diltiazem, benztropine, iloprost, and treprostinil, were found to inhibit CES1 activity *in vitro* with IC₅₀ values ranging from 13.9 μ M to 391.6 μ M ⁹⁸.

Lastly, an *in vitro* study suggested that some naturally occurring oxysterols and fatty acids might significantly inhibit CES1 activity with IC₅₀ values within the micromolar range ⁹⁹. These compounds could potentially affect CES1-mediated detoxification and drug metabolism *in vivo*.

1.8.3 CES1 Inducers

Overall, CES1 inducers are understudied relative to its inhibitors. Evidence suggests that various nuclear receptors might be involved in the regulation of CES1 expression ¹⁰⁰. For example, several agonists of peroxisome proliferator-activated receptors (PPARs) induced the mRNA expressions of several *CES1* isoforms in mouse livers ¹⁰¹. A moderate increase of *CES1* expression was observed in human hepatocytes treated with rifampicin, a prototypical human PXR-activating agent ¹⁰². An *in vivo* study with mice suggested that glucose could induce hepatic CES1 expression by stimulating *CES1* promoter activity and increasing acetylation of histone 3 and histone 4 in the CES1 chromatin, indicating a potential role of CES1 in glucose homeostasis ¹⁰³. Moreover, phenobarbital induced CES1 expression in mouse livers, and the inducibility was more prominent in neonatal mice relative to adult mice ¹⁰⁴. Again, a further clinical investigation is needed to determine the impacts of *CES1* inducers on the PK and PD of CES1 substrate medications.

1.8.4 Drug-Drug Interactions between CES1 Substrates

In addition to CES1 inhibitors and inducers, concomitant use of multiple CES1 substrate drugs can theoretically impact the substrate metabolism by competitively inhibiting the CES1. This hypothesis has been tested in several studies. An *in vitro*

study suggested trandolapril and enalapril might increase clopidogrel activation ¹⁰⁵. Consistent with the *in vitro* study, a follow-up retrospective clinical study reported the concomitant use of ACEI prodrugs and clopidogrel increases the risk of clinically important bleeding in patients with myocardial infarction (n=70,934) (P=0.002). The clinical significance of this finding is, however, debatable as the hazard ratio of clinically significant bleeding for patients on concomitant therapy was 1.10 (95% CI 0.97-1.25) ¹⁰⁵. Another clinical study with the similar design did not report a significant association between the composite cardiovascular outcome and the concomitant use of ACEI prodrugs and clopidogrel in patients with myocardial infarction (n=45,918). The adjusted odds ratio (aOR) for the perindopril was 0.94 (95% CI 0.76-1.16), and for ramipril was 0.97 (95% CI 0.80-1.18), relative to lisinopril, an ACEI not metabolized by CES1 ¹⁰⁶.

1.9 Disease States Related to CES1

A prospective clinical study was conducted in monozygotic and dizygotic twin subjects (62–83 years) with (n=48) or without (n=247) type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM) to examine the association of CES1 with adiposity and metabolic function. CES1 mRNA expression level in adipose tissue was positively associated with body-mass index (P<0.001), fasting glucose level (P=0.002), insulin (P=0.006), and triglycerides (P=0.003) ¹⁰⁷. Recent studies have also found that CES1 function was positively correlated with increased liver lipid storage and plasma lipid concentrations, indicating that CES1 might be heavily involved in lipid metabolism and is a potential drug target for the treatment of human metabolic disorders ^{11,108,109}.

Table 1-4 Drug-Drug Interaction Summary

CES1 inhibitors	CES1 Substrates	Interaction Summary
Alcohol	Methylphenidate	Many in vitro and in vivo studies
		confirmed alcohol inhibits CES1 and
		mediates biotransformation of
		methylphenidate to ethylphenidate;
		methylphenidate plasma concentrations
		were increased when patients took
		methylphenidate with alcohol ^{84-90,110} .
Alcohol	Oseltamivir	When alcohol was administered with
		oseltamivir in humans, the AUC of
		oseltamivir increased by 37% ⁹¹ .
Cannabis	Oseltamivir	In vitro study with CES1-transfected cells
		suggested THC, CBD and CBN to be the
		potent CES1 inhibitors. The inhibition
		constant (Ki) values for THC, CBD and
		CBN were 0.541, 0.974, and 0.263 µM
		(0.170, 0.306, and 0.0817 μg/ml) ⁹² .
Protease	Methylphenidate. p-	In vitro study showed that protease
Inhibitors	nitrophenyl acetate	inhibitors (i.e., nelfinavir, amprenavir,
	(PNPA) and p-	atazanavir, ritonavir, and saquinavir)
	nitrophenol (PNP)	inhibited the catalytic activity of CES1 (p
		<0.01). Among protease inhibitors,
		nelfinavir had a significantly higher
		inhibitory effect compared to other agents
		94
Aripiprazole	Methylphenidate, p-	In vitro study suggested aripiprazole,
	nitrophenyl acetate	perphenazine, thioridazine, and
	(PNPA)	fluoxetine to be potent inhibitors of CES1.
		Among the medications tested,
		aripiprazole was the most potent inhibitor
		of CES1, and an <i>In VIVO</i> study with FVB
Leve Patrice		mouse confirmed this result ³³ .
Isradipine	PNPA, Trandolapril	In vitro study with human liver
/ l acrolimus		dibudropyriding coloium coto regist
		(dinydropyridine calcium antagonist,
		DHP) and tacrolimus
		(Immunosuppressive agent) to be potent
	Dufinomido	CEST INNIDITORS **.
valproate	Ruinamide	in vitro study suggested valproate could
		rufinamida matabaliam ⁹⁷
	Clopidogral	ACEIs and clonidogral are often
		administered together as both of them
		auministereu logemer as both or melli
		are cardiovascular medicalions, polm

ACEIs and clopidogrel are suggested to
be inhibitors of CES1. A clinical study
with myocardial infarction patients
(n=70,934) demonstrated concomitant
use of ACEIs increased the rate of
clinically significant bleeding compared to
the clopidogrel monotherapy (P=0.002)
¹⁰⁵ . Another clinical study with myocardial
infarction patients (n=45,918) with
clopidogrel showed that concomitant use
of clopidogrel and ACEI (perindopril and
ramipril) was not associated with the re-
infarction, heart failure or death ¹⁰⁶ .

*This chapter was used with permission from 1 .

Chapter 2: Effect of CES1 Genetic Variation on Enalapril Steady-State Pharmacokinetics and Pharmacodynamics in Healthy Subjects¹¹¹

2.1 Abstract

Background and Objective: Enalapril is a prodrug and needs to be activated by CES1. A previous *in vitro* study demonstrated the CES1 genetic variant, G143E (rs71647871), significantly impaired enalapril activation. Two previous clinical studies examined the impact of G143E on single-dose enalapril PK (10 mg); however, the results were inconclusive. A prospective, multi-dose, pharmacokinetics, and pharmacodynamics (PK/PD) study was conducted to determine the impact of the CES1 G143E variant on enalapril steady-state PK and PD in healthy volunteers.

Methods: Study participants were stratified to G143E non-carriers (n=15) and G143E carriers (n=6). All the carriers were G143E heterozygotes. Study subjects received enalapril 10 mg daily for seven consecutive days prior to a 72h PK/PD study. Plasma concentrations of enalapril and its active metabolite enalaprilat were quantified by an established LC-MS/MS method.

Results: The CES1 G143E carriers had 30.9% lower enalaprilat C_{max} (P = 0.03) compared to the non-carriers (38.01 vs. 55.01 ng/mL). The carrier group had 27.5% lower AUC_{0- ∞} (P = 0.02) of plasma enalaprilat compared to the non-carriers (374.29 vs. 515.91 ng*hr/mL). The carriers also had a 32.3% lower enalaprilat-to-enalapril AUC_{0- ∞} ratio (P = 0.003) relative to the non-carriers. The average maximum reduction of systolic

blood pressure in the non-carrier group was approximately 12.4% at the end of the study compared to the baseline (P = 0.001). No statistically significant blood pressure reduction was observed in the G143E carriers.

Conclusions: The CES1 loss-of-function G143E variant significantly impaired enalapril activation and its systolic blood pressure-lowering effect in healthy volunteers.

2.2 Introduction

Enalapril is an angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitor (ACEI), and ACEI is considered to be the first-line therapy for hypertension, heart failure, and chronic kidney disease (CKD) ¹¹²⁻¹¹⁴. More than 5 million enalapril prescriptions were dispensed in the US in 2018¹¹⁵. Enalapril is a prodrug and needs to be enzymatically biotransformed in vivo to its active metabolite enalaprilat to produce its intended pharmacological effect ¹. Prodrugs (e.g., enalapril) are often designed to overcome the low bioavailability associated with the low cellular permeability of these hydrophilic compounds. In the case of enalapril, the carboxylic acid functional group was masked using an esterprodrug design, and the ester bond needs to be cleaved by the hepatic hydrolase carboxylesterase 1 (CES1) to release its active metabolite enalaprilat (Figure 2-1) ^{17,30,116}. Currently, 8 out of 10 FDA approved ACEIs are ester prodrugs, and these prodrugs are all activated by CES1¹. Two widely perceived assumptions behind the ester-prodrug design are (1) prodrugs are activated via unspecific esterases in the body, and (2) the interindividual variability in activating a prodrug is clinically insignificant. However, a previous study showed that enalapril can only be efficiently activated CES1, but not other hydrolases ¹⁷. In addition, significant interindividual variability in the activation of enalapril and other ester prodrugs has been consistently

observed in the clinic^{117,118}, suggesting that genetic variants of prodrug activatingenzymes (e.g., CES1) could be a critical factor contributing to the variability in the pharmacokinetics (PK) and pharmacodynamics (PD) of many prodrugs.



Figure 2-1 CES1-mediated enalapril activation

Previous studies have suggested enalapril monotherapy often resulted in inadequate response in patients with hypertension ¹¹⁹. The interindividual variability in response to enalapril therapy is particularly concerning when treating heart failure or renal disease because there are no biomarkers such as blood pressure for monitoring the efficacy of enalapril in these patient populations. An in vitro study demonstrated that the catalytic activity of *CES1* G143E on enalapril activation was completely lost in cells transfected with the variant, suggesting G143E might be associated with the interindividual variability in response to enalapril treatment ^{17,120}. Two previous clinical

studies examined the impact of G143E on enalapril PK in healthy volunteers treated with a single dose of enalapril (10 mg); however, the results were inconclusive ^{121,122}. One study with Danish healthy volunteers (6 carriers and 16 non-carriers) showed no significant differences in enalaprilat PK between the carriers and the non-carriers (P > 0.05) ¹²¹. The other study in Finnish subjects showed a 20% decrease for the enalaprilat AUC_{0-∞} (P = 0.049) in G143E carriers (n = 10) compared to non-carriers (n = 12) ¹²². It is worth noting that long-term enalapril treatment is required in clinical practice, and it remains unexplored whether CES1 genetic variants could affect the steady-state PK and PD of enalapril. Several studies showed that steady-state PK parameters could be different from single-dose PK parameters ^{123,124}. In the present study, we conducted a multiple-dose PK study in healthy subjects to determine the impact of the G143E variant on enalapril steady-state PK and its blood pressure-lowering effect.

2.2.1 Pharmacokinetics Property of Enalapril

Previous studies reported that enalapril has a bioavailability of 60% and a Tmax of 1 hour; enalapril tablets have not been shown to have food effects, while enalapril suspensions did ^{125,126}. Enalapril has a protein binding of 50-60% ¹²⁷. Enalapril is extensively metabolized by liver CES1 and is excreted renally. The reported elimination half-life of enalapril is 1.3 hours.

2.3 Materials and Methods

2.3.1 Materials

Enalapril, enalapril-d5, and enalaprilat were purchased from Cayman Chemical (Ann Arbor, Michigan, USA), and enalaprilat-d5 was purchased from Toronto Research Chemicals (Toronto, Canada). Blank human plasma was obtained from Innovative Research (Novi, Michigan, USA). Taq polymerase was obtained from New England Biolabs (Ipswich, MA, USA). All other chemicals and agents were of the highest analytical grade commercially available. Enalapril tablets (Vasotec®) from Merck with the same lot number were given to all participants to minimize the source of variability.

2.3.2 Study Design

A multi-dose enalapril PK and PD study was conducted at Michigan Clinical Research Unit, Ann Arbor, MI. All participants signed a University of Michigan Institutional Review Board (IRB) approved informed consent prior to participation (NCT03051282). Two arms in the study were the G143E carrier group and the noncarrier group based on their CES1 genotype. Participants took enalapril 10mg with 240mL room-temperature water for 7 consecutive days, and participants were instructed to fast 1 hour before and after the drug administrations to avoid potential food effects on drug absorption. Participants fasted starting 10 PM the night before the PK study, and a 72-hour PK study was initiated on the 7th day at 8 AM. Ten mL of blood was collected at the baseline (Day 1), immediately prior to the 7th dose of enalapril (Day 7, 0 hour), and 0.5, 1, 1.5, 2, 2.5, 3, 3.5, 4, 5, 6, 8, 10, 12, 24, 48, and 72 hours post-dosing (Figure 22). Blood samples were centrifuged at 2,000 × g for 10 min at 4 °C, and the plasma samples were collected, labeled, and stored at -80 °C until analysis.



Figure 2-2 Study Design. 635 subjects were initially screened but only 275 of them met the inclusion/exclusion criteria. 275 subjects were invited to the screening visit #1 to sign the informed consent form and to provide the saliva sample for the CES1 genetic testing. Based on their CES1 G143E genotypes, subjects were stratified into the G143E carrier group (n=6) and the G143E non-carrier group (n=15). All participants in both groups completed the physical assessment and routine laboratory test to ensure their kidney and liver functions are normal. All participants took 10 mg of enalapril for 7 consecutive days, and a 72-hour PK study was conducted on the 7th day.

For the PD markers, resting systolic blood pressure (SBP), diastolic blood

pressure (DBP), and heart rate were measured at the baseline (Day 1, prior to taking

the first dose of medication) and during the PK study (Day7); the PD markers were measured immediately prior to blood draws during the PK study. The average maximum BP reduction was calculated by subtracting the lowest BP measured from Day 7 from the baseline BP (Day 1).

2.3.3 Study Participants

The major inclusion criteria were healthy volunteers between 18 and 55 years old. The major exclusion criteria were volunteers with any pre-existing condition, concurrent medication (including prescription and over-the-counter medications, herbal/vitamin supplement, and oral contraceptives), tobacco use, and excessive alcohol consumption. The detailed inclusion and exclusion criteria are listed in Table 2-1. All participants completed the physical assessment and routine laboratory tests (complete blood count with differential and comprehensive metabolic panel). The urine pregnancy test was done on all female participants. Baseline characteristics were matched between the G143E carrier (n=6) and the non-carrier groups (n=15) (Table 2-2). The sample size of 21 (6 carriers and 15 non-carriers) would provide approximately 80% power to detect the clinically meaningful AUC difference (30%) between G143E carriers and non-carriers at a 0.05 significance level when a standard deviation of 25% is assumed for each group^{6,121,122,128}.

Table 2-1 Inclusion and exclusion criteria of the study

	Inclusion Criteria
٠	Healthy volunteers between the ages of 18-55 years old
•	Normal clinical laboratory values during the screening medical history
	Exclusion Criteria
•	Volunteers with any pre-existing medication condition (including pregnancy) were excluded as it might interfere with drug absorption, distribution, metabolism, or excretion.
•	Volunteers with any concurrent medication (including prescription and over the counter medications, birth control, herbal/vitamin supplement, and oral contraceptives), tobacco smokers, and excessive alcohol (>3 drink/day) users were excluded to avoid drug-drug interaction
•	No subjects weighing under 50 kg were selected
•	Subjects expressing inability to conform to dietary restrictions required for the study. Dietary restrictions were (1) abstaining from alcohol and grapefruit containing product starting one week prior to the study till the end, (2) fasting 1 hour before and after medication administration, and (3) fasting overnight a day before the 72-hour PK study
•	Asian descents were excluded as MAF of CES1 G143E is

approximately 0% in the Asian population

2.3.4 Genotyping Procedure

275 healthy volunteers provided saliva samples for genotyping. Pure Link Genomic DNA Mini Kits (Life Technology, Austin, TX, USA) were used to extract DNA from saliva samples. The extracted DNA was genotyped using the genotyping method we published previously ¹⁷. All participants in the G143E Carrier group (n=6) had a 143G/E genotype (i.e., G143E heterozygous carrier), and all participants in the noncarrier group (n=15) had 143G/G genotype (i.e., wild type) (**Supplemental Figure 1-1**).



Supplemental Figure 1-1. Sanger sequencing result. All participants in the G143E Carrier group (n=6) had a 143G/E genotype (i.e., G143E heterozygous carrier). Both G and A alleles (G428G>A) were shown in the Sanger sequencing result (left panel). All participants in the non-carrier group (n=15) had 143G/G genotype (i.e., wild type) (right panel).

Enalapril and enalaprilat plasma concentrations were determined using an established LC-MS/MS method (Chapter 3). Briefly, 150 µL of plasma were prepared by mixing 30 µL trichloroacetic acid (TCA) 30% (w/v) containing the internal standards enalapril-d5 and enalaprilat-d5. The mixture was vortexed for 5 min and centrifuged for 10 minutes, and the supernatant was injected into an LC-MS/MS for the enalapril and enalaprilat quantification. The lower limit of quantification was 0.5 ng/mL for both enalapril and enalaprilat. Accuracy and precision results met the requirements in the FDA bioanalytical method validation guidance ranging from 2.1% to 9.6% for precision and from 96.9% to 114.2% for accuracy¹²⁹. A parallel reaction-monitoring method was utilized to acquire the product ions of all four target precursors at m/z of 377.2 (enalapril), 349.2 (enalaprilat), 382.2 (enalapril-d5), and 354.2 (enalaprilat-d5). The

assay was validated in accordance with the FDA Bioanalytical Method Validation Guidance for Industry ¹³⁰.

2.3.5 Data Analysis

LC-MS/MS data were analyzed using the Skyline software (version 20.1.0.76, University of Washington, Seattle, WA). The time-plasma concentration profiles of enalapril and enalaprilat were plotted using ggplot2 (R package) (Figure 2-3); enalaprilat concentrations vs. time were plotted on a semi-log scale (Figure 2-4). The PK parameters of enalapril and enalaprilat, including peak concentration (C_{max}), the area under the plasma concentration-time curve from 0 h to ∞ h (AUC_{0- ∞}), half-life (t_{1/2}), and clearance (CL) were estimated by non-compartmental analysis (NCA) using the R package PKNCA version 0.9.2. Statistical differences of PK and PD parameters between *CES1* G143E genotypes were evaluated using the one-tail student *t*-test. A P value less than 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

2.4 Results

Baseline characteristics were matched between the G143E carrier (n=6) and the non-carrier groups (n=15) to avoid potential confounding factors (e.g., age, sex, race, renal and liver functions)¹³¹ (Table 2-2). Previous studies have suggested that CES1 expression is higher in females than in males⁷³, and African Americans tend to respond less to ACE-inhibitors due to the downregulated renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system (RAAS) pathway¹³². To avoid those potential confounding factors, age, sex, race, and renal functions were matched between the two study arms.

	Carriers (n=6)		Non-Carriers (n=15)			P-value	
Age (Year)	23.1	±	2.7	25.0	±	3.5	0.2
Sex (F/M)		1/5			2/13		1.0
BMI	25.1	±	4.0	23.0	±	2.8	0.2
CrCl (mL/min)	111.6	±	13.8 122.7		± 24.2		0.3
Race or Ethnic Grou	ıp						
White		6			15		1.0

Table 2-2 Baseline characteristics of study participants

• F in Sex indicates female; M indicates male

 BMI, body mass index is calculated as the body mass divided by the square of body height

 CrCL, creatinine clearance is calculated using Cockcroft-Gault formula with participant's actual body weight

• Statistical differences in baseline characteristics between the carrier and the non-carrier group were evaluated using the two-tail student t-test

Compared to the previously reported MAF (3.7%) for the White population¹³³, our

study showed approximately 2% MAF. The genotypes did not deviate from the Hardy-

Weinberg Equilibrium. Again, all our study participants were Caucasian due to the

geographical position. We have identified nine G143E heterozygotes from initial

screening (n=275). Two participants declined to continue the study, and one participant

was excluded due to the age limit (the participant turned 56 before proceeding to the

Screening Visit #2) (Figure 2-2).



Figure 2-3 The profiles of the time-plasma concentrations of enalapril (left) and enalaprilat (right). Left panel shows enalapril concentrations (ng/mL) over time (hour), and right panel shows enalaprilat (active metabolite) concentrations (ng/mL) over time (hour). G143E carriers (i.e., CES1 slow metabolizers) are represented as a blue color, and G143E non-carriers (i.e., CES1 normal metabolizers) are represented as a gray color. Enalapril concentrations were slightly higher in the carrier group compared with the non-carrier group. Enalaprilat concentrations were significantly lower in the carrier group compared to the non-carrier group)



Figure 2-4 Enalaprilat concentrations (ng/mL) vs time (hour) were plotted on a semi-log scale (left panel). Red represents the average enalaprilat concentrations in the G143E carrier group (i.e., CES1 slow metabolizers), and blue represents the averages in the G143E

2.4.1 Effect of CES1 G143E on Enalapril Pharmacokinetics

The CES1 G143E carrier group had 30.9% lower enalaprilat C_{max} (P = 0.03) and 27.5% lower AUC_{0-∞} (P = 0.027) compared to the non-carrier group (Figure 2-5). The carrier group also had 30.7% higher T_{max} (P = 0.01) of enalaprilat compared to the non-carrier group (Table 2-3). Even though statistically insignificant, the carrier group had 2.2% higher enalapril C_{max} and 9.1% higher AUC_{0-∞} compared to the non-carrier group. The elimination half-life and T_{max} of enalapril did not significantly differ between the two genotype groups.

Overall, the carrier group had a 32.3% lower enalaprilat-to-enalapril AUC_{0-∞} ratio (P = 0.003) compared to the non-carrier group (Figure 2-5). Noticeable interindividual variability in PK parameters was observed in both carrier and non-carrier groups. In non-carriers, the coefficient of variance (CV%) of the AUC_{0-∞} was 31.1% for enalapril and 29.1% for enalaprilat. In carriers, the CV% of the AUC_{0-∞} was 32.0% for enalapril and 28.0% for enalaprilat.



Figure 2-5 Major PK parameters comparison between the CES1 G143E carrier and non-carrier groups. The CES1 G143E carrier group (red) had 27.5% lower AUC0- ∞ (P = 0.027) and 30.9% lower enalaprilat Cmax (P = 0.03) compared to the non-carrier group (blue). The carrier group (red) also had a 32.3% lower enalaprilat-to-enalapril AUC0- ∞ ratio (P = 0.003) compared to the non-carrier group (blue).

2.4.2 Effect of CES1 G143E on Enalapril Pharmacodynamics

To minimize the potential confounding effects caused by the baseline variability in BP and heart rate among the individuals, the post-treatment BP and heart rate were normalized to the corresponding baseline values. The average maximum reduction of SBP in the non-carrier group was approximately 12.4% at the end of the study compared to the baseline (P = 0.001). There was no statistically significant SBP reduction observed in the G143E carriers (P > 0.05) (Figure 2-6). There was a statistically significant difference in the average maximum reduction of SBP between the non-carrier groups (P = 0.016, Non-carriers: 14.6 ± 13.13 mmHg vs. carriers: -1.0 ± 10.68 mmHg). DBP and heart rate did not differ significantly from the baseline in both groups (P > 0.05). Overall, mean SBP reductions were found to be correlated with enalaprilat plasma concentrations.



Figure 2-6 The paired sample t-test was performed to examine the difference between the baseline SBP and the SBP at the end of the study on each study arm. Blood pressure-lowering effect of enalapril in the CES1 G143E carriers and non-carriers. The non-carrier group had approximately 12.4% lower SBP at the end of the study compared to the baseline (P = 0.001). There was no statistically significant blood pressure reduction observed in the G143E carriers.

Table 2-3 Summary of PK parameter

	Non-Carri	ers			Carriers				Average Comparison (Carrier/Non- Carrier)	90% CI of Average Comparison	P-Value
Enalapril	Average		Sd	CV (%)	Average		Sd	CV (%)			
AUC 0-72h (ng*hr/mL)	106.5	±	33.1	31.1	115.8	±	36.2	31.3	1.09	0.85-1.42	0.29
AUC _{0-inf} (ng*hr/mL)	108.0	±	33.6	31.1	117.8	±	37.7	32.0	1.09	0.84-1.43	0.28
C _{max} (ng/mL)	68.0	±	22.2	32.7	69.5	±	20.0	28.7	1.02	0.80-1.34	0.44
T _{max} (hr), median (range)	1.0 (0.5-1.	.5)		22.3	1.0 (1.0-1.0)			0.00	0.99	0.89-1.11	0.36
T1/2 (hr)	1.3	±	1.4	105.7	2.1	±	2.1	101.5	1.35	0.62-2.93	0.18
Enalaprilat											
AUC 0-72h (ng*hr/mL)	502.0	±	151.3	30.1	363.2	±	104.6	28.8	0.72	0.58-0.92	0.03*
AUC _{0-inf} (ng*hr/mL)	515.9	±	150.0	29.1	374.3	±	104.7	28.0	0.73	0.58-0.92	0.02*
C _{max} (ng/mL)	55.0	±	18.6	33.7	38.0	±	14.5	38.2	0.69	0.49-0.96	0.03*
T _{max} (hr), median (range)	2.9 (1.5-4.	.0)		23.3	3.8 (3.0-5.0)			1.3	1.32	1.10-1.59	0.01*
T1/2 (hr)	16.5	±	6.3	38.1	10.9	±	4.9	44.9	0.66	0.46-0.95	0.03*
AUC /AUC _{0-72h} (Enalaprilat/Enalapril)	4.9	±	1.1	21.6	3.3	±	1.0	29.4	0.67	0.52-0.85	0.002*
AUC/AUC _{0-inf} (Enalaprilat/Enalapril)	4.9	±	1.1	21.9	3.3	±	1.1	32.0	0.68	0.51-0.87	0.003*

* indicates the statistically significant difference between the G143E non-carrier (i.e., CES1 normal metabolizers) and the G143E carrier group (i.e., CES1 slow metabolizers).

- Statistical differences of PK and PD parameters between CES1 G143E genotypes were evaluated using the one-tail student *t*-test; geometric Mean and 90% CIs were included

2.5 Discussion

Numerous CES1 genetic polymorphisms have been investigated for their potential impact on CES1 function, and the G143E variant is the only one that has been consistently shown to significantly affect both PK and PD of CES1 substrate drugs ¹. A previous in vitro study showed enalapril is selectively activated by hepatic CES1, and CES1 G143E genetic variant completely impairs enalapril activation ¹⁷. In this multidose healthy volunteer enalapril PK study, we demonstrated that CES1 G143E carriers had significantly lower enalaprilat exposure compared to the non-carriers. We also observed an appropriate trend of an increased plasma concentration of the prodrug enalapril in the carriers, although the differences did not reach the level of statistical significance. In addition, the blood pressure-lowering effect was only observed in the non-carrier group, which is consistent with the higher plasma concentrations of enalaprilat observed in the non-carrier group. Previous literature reported healthy volunteers responded less to the blood pressure-lowering medication (e.g., enalapril) compared to patients with hypertension due to the downregulated renin-angiotensinaldosterone system (RAAS) pathway ^{134,135}. In clinical practice, the impact of G143E on the therapeutic effect of enalapril could be more pronounced in a patient population.

Two previous clinical studies examined the impact of G143E on single-dose enalapril PK, and the results were inconclusive ^{121,122}. One study reported that the mean enalaprilat AUC_{0- ∞} in the carriers (n=6) was 6% lower than that in the non-carriers (n = 16) after study subjects were orally administered a single dose of 10 mg enalapril, however, the difference was statistically insignificant. It is worth noting that, in addition to G143E (6 variant carriers), several other CES1 variations were included in the

analysis (e.g., 15 individuals with different gene copy variations and 16 controls) ¹²¹. Another single dose (10 mg enalapril) PK study in Finnish subjects (10 G143E carriers and 12 non-carriers) showed a modest 20% decrease for the enalaprilat AUC_{0-∞} in the G143E carriers compared to the non-carriers with a borderline significance (P = 0.049) ¹²². As a comparison, in the present multi-dose enalapril PK/PD study, despite the smaller sample size (n=6 G143E carriers), a 27.5% reduction in enalaprilat AUC_{0-∞} was observed in the G143E carriers (Figure 2-5). The underlying mechanism of the greater effect of G143E in this multiple-dose study relative to the previous single-dose trials remains elusive. We speculate that the impact of G143E on reducing enalaprilat formation may have accumulated following each dose, and the maximum effect was achieved after the PK reached a steady-state. Overall, this finding indicates that the CES1 G143E variant may have a more significant impact on the steady-state PK; our results (steady-state PK) are more indicative of the effects of this variant on real-world patient populations. However, it should be noted that, given the small sample size and large inter-individual PK variabilities in both the present investigation and the two previous single-dose studies, the observed differences might not be statistically significant.

In line with previous reports, significant intragroup variability of enalapril PK was observed. Even though CES1 genetic polymorphisms are an important factor contributing to CES1 variability, it is worth noting that all CES1 genetic variants identified to date can only explain a small portion of interindividual variability of the CES1 function ¹. Considering the low CES1 G143E MAF (0 to 4%), it can be therefore assumed that CES1 G143E variation can only explain a limited portion of enalapril

response variation in clinical practice. Previous in vitro studies observed a marked variability of CES1 protein expression in human liver samples ^{17,136}. Considering G143E only affects the catalytic efficiency of CES1 without altering its expression ^{73,133,137}, the main source of interindividual variability in the current study may have resulted from the different expression levels of CES1 in individual participants. Therefore, reliable CES1 biomarkers capable of predicting hepatic CES1 expression could be used to further improve the therapeutic outcomes of enalapril and other CES1 substrate drugs. As an excretory protein, CES1 can be released into the blood from tissues with high levels of CES1 expression (i.e., the liver). Indeed, we recently detected CES1 protein in human plasma using a highly sensitive LC-MS/MS proteomics assay ¹³⁸. Although plasma CES1 is insignificant for drug metabolism due to its extremely low plasma concentration, there is potential for plasma CES1 protein to be served as a biomarker to predict the PK and PD of enalapril and other CES1 substrate drugs. Alternatively, plasma exosomes are extracellular vesicles and contain functional proteins and nucleic acids derived from cells of different origins. A recent study showed high correlations between exosomal mRNA expressions and hepatic protein levels for several hepatic drug-metabolizing enzymes ¹³⁹, but CES1 was not included in the study. It is plausible that CES1 genetic variants and plasma and exosomal CES1 could be used as complemental biomarkers allowing for the prediction of a large portion of CES1 variability and the development of an individualized pharmacotherapy strategy to improve the effectiveness and safety of drugs metabolized by CES1.

The main limitation of this study is its small sample size, which was mainly due to the low MAF of the G143E variant. In particular, given this small sample size and that

the study was done in healthy volunteers, the blood pressure-lowering effect needs to be further evaluated to better understand the true effect especially in a patient population. Importantly, we were not able to evaluate the effect of homozygous G143E on enalapril activation as all participants in the carrier group were G143E heterozygotes. It can be hypothesized that the magnitude of difference in PK and PD parameters between non-carries and homozygous G143E carriers may even be greater than what was observed with the G143E heterozygotes group.

This multi-dose enalapril healthy volunteer PK study demonstrated that the CES1 G143E variant significantly reduced enalapril activation and its blood pressure-lowering effect in healthy volunteers. Assuming enalapril follows linear kinetics¹⁴⁰⁻¹⁴², a 27.5% reduction in enalapril AUC might require a 38.3% increase in enalapril dose in G143E carriers. This is especially important for the treatment of heart failure or CKD as there is no biomarker (such as blood pressure) to adjust the dose or to switch the medication. Future studies are warranted to investigate the effects of the G143E variant on the activation and clinical outcomes of enalapril and other ACEI prodrugs in patients with hypertension, heart failure, and CKD.

*This chapter was used with permission from ¹¹¹

Chapter 3: A Liquid Chromatography - Parallel Reaction Monitoring Mass Spectrometry Method for the Quantification of Enalapril and its Active Metabolite Enalaprilat in Human Plasma¹⁴³

3.1 Abstract

A simple, sensitive, and robust liquid chromatography-parallel-reaction monitoring (PRM) mass spectrometry method was developed and validated to quantify enalapril and enalaprilat in human plasma. This assay utilized trichloroacetic acid for plasma protein precipitation and stable isotope-labeled analytes (enalapril-d5 and enalaprilat-d5) as internal standards (IS), enabling precise and accurate quantification of enalapril and enalaprilat. The analytes were separated on a Waters Acquity UPLC C18 column using a five-minute gradient. The product ions from the precursors of enalapril (m/z 377.21), enalaprilat (m/z 349.18), enalapril-d5 (m/z 382.24, IS for enalapril), and enalaprilat-d5 (m/z 354.21, IS for enalaprilat) were detected in the positive ion mode using a PRM data acquisition method on a Sciex TripleTOF 5600+ LC-MS/MS system. The lower limit of quantification (LLOQ) was 0.5 ng/mL for both enalapril and enalaprilat, and the linear range was validated over 0.5 ng/mL to 200 ng/mL. The intra-batch and inter-batch variability, matrix effect, and stability were evaluated. This assay was successfully applied to an enalapril pharmacokinetics study in humans.

3.2 Introduction

Several liquid chromatograph-tandem mass spectrometry (LC-MS/MS) methods have been published for enalapril and enalaprilat quantification in human plasma¹⁴⁴⁻¹⁴⁷. These previously published assays met used the multiple-reaction monitoring methods on triple quadrupole mass spectrometers. Parallel-reaction monitoring (PRM) is a new data acquisition method originally developed for targeted proteomics analyses on a high-resolution and accurate mass (HRAM) mass spectrometer (e.g., Quadruple Timeof-Flight (Q-TOF) and Q-Orbitrap) ¹⁴⁸. Similar to MRM assays, PRM methods exhibit excellent sensitivity, dynamic range, and reproducibility for peptide and protein guantification. Moreover, PRM has two major advantages over MRM ¹⁴⁹, including that 1) PRM is more specific because the MS/MS data is acquired in a high-resolution mode on an HRAM mass analyzer; 2) unlike MRM methods, PRM does not require a priori selection of product ions, thus, simplifying the assay development. In this study, we developed and validated a PRM method for quantifying plasma concentrations of enalapril and enalaprilat and successfully applied the method to an enalapril pharmacokinetics (PK) study in human subjects.

3.2.1 Physicochemical Property of Enalapril

Enalapril maleate is a Biopharmaceutics Classification System class III substance ¹⁵⁰. It has a human intestinal permeability of 1.57×10^{-4} cm/s ¹⁵¹, solubilities of 25 mg/mL (at pH 3.5) and 200 mg/mL (at pH 7.0) ¹⁵² and a partition coefficient (the log P, octanol/water) value of 2.45 ¹⁵³. The key pKa of enalapril subgroups are at 2.97 (carboxylic acid group) and 5.35 (amine group) at 25°C ^{154,155}.

3.3 Materials and Methods

3.3.1 Reagents

Enalapril, enalapril-d5, and enalaprilat were purchased from Cayman Chemical (Ann Arbor, Michigan, USA), and enalaprilat-d5 was purchased from Toronto Research Chemicals (Toronto, Canada). Blank human plasma was obtained from Innovative Research (Novi, Michigan, USA). All other chemicals and agents were of the highest analytical grade commercially available.

3.3.2 Solution Preparation

All stock solutions were prepared in methanol. The working solution containing both enalapril and enalaprilat was prepared by diluting enalapril and enalaprilat stock solution at the following concentrations: 10, 20, 50, 100, 200, 500, 1000, 2000, 4000 ng/mL. To prepare calibrator samples, 142.5 uL of blank plasma was mixed with 7.5 uL of working solution (total of 150uL), and the final concentrations of calibration standards were 0.5, 1, 2.5, 5, 10, 25, 50, 100, and 200 ng/mL. Quality control (QC) samples' concentrations for both analytes were 1 ng/mL (low), 25 ng/mL (medium), and 200 ng/mL (high).

3.3.3 Human PK Study

A multiple-dose enalapril PK study was performed in humans. Briefly, study subjects received enalapril tablet 10 mg daily for seven consecutive days prior to a 72 h PK study. Ten mL of blood was collected at the baseline (Day 1), immediately prior to the 7th dose of enalapril (Day 7, 0 hour), and 0.5, 1, 1.5, 2, 2.5, 3, 3.5, 4, 5, 6, 8, 10, 12,
24, 48, and 72 hours post-dosing. Blood samples were centrifuged at 2,000 × g for 10 min at 4 °C, and the plasma samples were collected, labeled, and stored at -80 °C until analysis.

3.3.4 Plasma Sample Preparation

150 µL of plasma sample was mixed with 30 µL trichloroacetic acid (TCA) solution (30%, w/v) containing the internal standards (IS) enalapril-d5 (20 ng/mL) and enalaprilat-d5 (100 ng/mL) for the quantification of enalapril and enalaprilat, respectively. The mixture was vortexed at 1,500 rpm for 5 min, followed by centrifugation at 21,000 × *g* for 10 min at 4 °C. Fifteen µL of the supernatant were injected into an LC-MS/MS system for the determination of enalapril and enalaprilat concentrations.

3.3.5 LC-MS/MS Conditions

The LC-MS/MS system consisted of a Sciex TripleTOF 5600+ mass spectrometer (Sciex, Framingham, MA) coupled with a Shimadzu LC system (Shimadzu, Tokyo, Japan). Analytes were separated on an analytical column (ACQUITY UPLC BEH C18-CL, 130 Å, 50 × 2.1 mm, 1.7 µm, Waters, Milford, MA). Mobile phase A was water with 0.1% formic acid, and mobile phase B was acetonitrile with 0.1% formic acid. The mobile phase was delivered at a flow rate of 0.22 mL/min for 5 min, and the gradient is described in Supplemental Table 3-1. The mass spectrometer was operated in a positive ion mode with an ion spray voltage floating at 5,500 V, ion source gas one at 30 psi, ion source gas two at 40 psi, curtain gas at 25 psi, and source temperature at 550 °C. The PRM acquisition consisted of a 200 ms TOF-MS scan from 300-400 Da and subsequent 120 ms product ions scans from 50 Da to 400 Da for each target precursors at m/z of 377.21 (enalapril), 349.18 (enalaprilat), 382.24 (enalapril-d5), and 354.21 (enalaprilat-d5). The MS parameters were set the same for all four compounds with declustering potential at 50 v, collision energy at 30 v and collision energy spread at 5 v.

Supplemental Table 3-1 The LC gradient conditions for enalapril and enalaprilat LC-MS/MS analysis

Time (min)	B (%)	A (%)
0	3	97
2.5	20	80
2.8	90	10
3.4	90	10
3.8	3	97
5	Stop	

Mobile phase:

A: water containing 0.1% formic acid

B: acetonitrile containing 0.1% formic acid

3.3.6 Data Analysis

LC-MS/MS data were analyzed using the Skyline software (version 20.1.0.76, University of Washington, Seattle, WA). The peak area sum of the top 3 product ions for each analyte was used for quantification. Specifically, the product ions of 303.1703, 234.1498, and 160.1121 were used for enalapril; 303.1703, 206.1176, and 160.1121 were used for enalaprilat; 308.2040, 239.1816, and 165.1447 were used for enalaprild5; 308.2049, 211.1503, and 165.1552 were used for enalaprilat-d5 (Figure 3-1). The enalapril/enalapril-d5 and enalaprilat/enalaprilat-d5 peak ratios were calculated for quantifying enalapril and enalaprilat plasma concentrations. The R package ggplot2 was used to draw a plasma concentration-time profile for the preliminary PK study.



Figure 3-1 Mass spectra showing both the precursor and product ions of enalapril (A), enalaprilat (B), and their isotope-labeled internal standard enalapril-d5 (C) and enalaprilat-d5 (D).

3.4 Results

3.4.1 Method Validation

The bioanalytical method for enalapril and enalaprilat was validated for specificity, linearity, precision, accuracy, and stability based on the FDA Bioanalytical Method Validation Guidance for Industry.

3.4.2 Selectivity

Selectivity was evaluated by analyzing blank plasma samples and blank plasma spiked with enalapril and enalaprilat at the lower limit of quantification (LLOQ) (0.5 ng/mL). The blank human plasma samples were obtained from six different sources. No significant interference peaks were observed in any blank samples (Figure 3-2). The heights of background peaks were less than 10% of enalapril and enalaprilat at the LLOQ.



Figure 3-2 Representative LC-MS/MS chromatograms of blank plasma, plasma at the lower limit of quantifications (LLOQ, 0.5ng/mL) and plasma samples from an enalapril PK study in humans (2-hour post-dosing of 10mg enalapril). Enalapril-d5 and Enalaprilat-d5 chromatograms are also included.

3.4.3 Linearity and LLOQ

The assay showed excellent linearity ($R^2 > 0.99$) over the concentration range of 0.5-200 ng/mL for both enalapril and enalaprilat (Figure 3-3). The LLOQ was 0.5 ng/mL for both enalapril and enalaprilat in plasma at a signal-to-noise ratio >10. The evaluation results of accuracy and precision at the LLOQ were provided in the section below.



Figure 3-3 Calibration curves for enalapril and enalaprilat with the concentrations ranging from 0.5 ng/mL to 200 ng/mL in human plasma.

3.4.4 Accuracy and Precision

Intra-batch and inter-batch accuracy and precision for enalapril and enalaprilat were evaluated by analyzing three QC samples (Table 3-1) with three replicates for each sample. The concentrations of the QC samples were 1 (Low-QC), 25 (Mid-QC), 200 (High-QC) ng/mL. Accuracy and precision were also determined at the LLOQ for both analytes. Accuracy and precision results met the requirements in the FDA bioanalytical method validation guidance with the range of 0.01-9.62% (precision) and 96.89-114.80% (accuracy)¹²⁹.

Concontration	Inter-	batch	Intra-batch			
Concentration	Accuracy (%)	Precision (%)	Accuracy (%)	Precision (%)		
Enalapril						
LLOQ	111.18	4.72	101.21	9.62		
Low-QC	100.22	3.43	106.76	1.87		
Mid-QC	107.56	2.07	114.80	3.30		
High-QC	107.57	6.35	103.11	7.99		
Enalaprilat						
LLOQ	109.87	8.68	114.15	1.30		
Low-QC	99.50	2.80	97.06	0.01		
Mid-QC	106.10	4.25	110.56	6.04		
High-QC	105.27	7.96	96.89	2.22		

Table 3-1 Summary of intra-day and inter-day accuracy and precision of LC-MS/MS assay for the determination of enalapril and enalaprilat in human plasma (n=3).

3.4.5 Matrix Effects

Six blank human plasma samples from different sources were used to assess the matrix effects. Two sets of QC samples were prepared. Set A: QC samples (1, 200 ng/mL) prepared with blank human plasma (n=6). Set B: QC samples (1, 200ng/mL) prepared with water (n=3). The percentage of the matrix effect was calculated by dividing the peak area obtained from Set A by Set B. As shown in Table 3-2, the mean

matrix effect for both analytes ranged from 37.47% to 74.00% with CV ranged from

1.36% to 12%.

Table 3-2 Matrix effect of enalapril and enalaprilat in human plasma (n=3 with water, n=6 with plasma).

Analytes and	Concentration	Matrix effect	
Matrix	(nM)	(%, Mean ± S.D.)	CV (%)
enalapril	0.5	58.37 ± 7.00	12.00
	200	74.00 ± 2.40	3.24
enalaprilat	0.5	37.47 ± 5.10	1.36
	200	41.70 ± 1.82	4.37

3.4.6 Stability

The stability of enalapril and enalaprilat in human plasma was tested under different conditions, including benchtop, autosampler, and long-term (-80 °C) stability; three replicates were prepared for each condition. Freeze-thaw stability was not evaluated given that freeze-thaw stability has been studied in previous investigations and is independent of analytical assays^{144,145,147}. Benchtop stability was tested after exposing the QC samples at room temperature for 12 hours. The autosampler stability was tested after storing the processed QC samples in autosampler (4 °C) for 7 days. The long-term stability was tested after the QC samples were stored at -80 °C for 30 days. The results were compared with the freshly prepared QC samples. The assay was stable in all conditions, and enalapril and enalaprilat concentrations were within 84.04-111.86% of the freshly prepared QC samples (Table 3-3).

Accuracy (%)										
Enalapril	Bench-Top Stability (After 12 Hours)	AutoSampler (4 °C for 7 days)	30 days at −80 °C							
QC-L	95.35 ± 8.45	94.73 ± 9.61	103.97 ± 2.67							
QC-H	111.86 ± 6.37	103.09 ± 7.02	105.45 ± 4.16							
Enalaprilat										
QC-L	100.75 ± 0.72	101.01 ± 1.63	97.08 ± 11.51							
QC-H	84.04 ± 8.00	93.14 ± 4.24	99.98 ± 9.42							

Table 3-3 Stability of enalapril and enalaprilat in human plasma under different conditions (n=3).

3.4.7 Application in a Human PK Study

The validated method was successfully applied to a preliminary PK study in humans after oral administration of enalapril tablet 10 mg for 7 consecutive days. Although limited to one subject (Figure 3-4), the method enabled accurate quantification of enalapril and enalaprilat in human plasma for up to 72 hours.



Figure 3-4 A plasma concentration-time profile of enalapril and enalaprilat in a healthy human subject after 10 mg enalapril oral administration for 7 consecutive days (a preliminary PK study).

3.4.8 Comparison of the Current Method with Previously Published LC-MS/MS Methods

To the best of our knowledge, this is the first PRM assay to quantify enalapril and enalaprilat in human plasma, whereas previously published methods used the MRMbased data acquisition ¹⁴⁴⁻¹⁴⁷. PRM was originally developed for targeted proteomics analysis and has been increasingly used for small molecule quantification in the past decade ^{148,156}. MRM methods are performed on low-resolution triple guadrupole mass spectrometers. In contrast, PRM utilizes HRAM instruments, such as Q-TOF and Q-Orbitrap, enabling higher specificity and selectivity ¹⁴⁸. In addition, different from MRM, pre-selecting product ions are not required for PRM, which simplifies the assay development procedure. The sensitivity of our PRM assay was found to be comparable to that reported in previous studies (LLOQ: 0.5 ng/mL vs. 0.638-1 ng/mL), although a lower LLOQ can be achieved based on the signal-to-noise ratios observed at the current LLOQ (Figure 3-2). Moreover, the IS used in the previous methods were compounds with chemical structures similar to enalapril and enalaprilat. As a comparison, the IS in our method were stable-isotope labeled analytes (i.e., enalapril-d5 and enalaprilat-d5), which are more reliable and robust than other types of IS. Finally, a TCA protein precipitation method was developed for plasma sample preparation in the present study, while the previous studies utilized either acetonitrile protein precipitation or solid-phase extraction methods. The TCA method results in less sample dilution (i.e., higher sensitivity) compared to acetonitrile protein precipitation methods and is more efficient and cost-effective than solid-phase extraction.

3.5 Conclusion

In this present study, we have developed and validated a sensitive and robust PRM LC-MS/MS method for the analysis of enalapril and enalaprilat in human plasma. The unique PRM approach, the TCA protein precipitation method, and the stable-isotope labeled IS enabled precise and accurate quantification of enalapril and enalaprilat in human plasma with LLOQ at 0.5 ng/mL. A preliminary PK study showed that this assay is readily applicable to human enalapril PK study.

Chapter 4: Identification of CES1 Regulatory Variants Using an Allele-Specific Protein Expression (ASPE) Method

4.1 Abstract

Identifying genetic variants responsible for regulating the expression of drugmetabolizing enzymes is important and can lead to the optimization of pharmacotherapy of many medications. In the present study, we developed an allele-specific protein expression (ASPE) assay using a heavy stable isotope-labeled QconCAT internal standard to identify the CES1 regulatory variants. The CES1 nonsynonymous variant S75N (rs2307240) was utilized as a marker to differentiate the protein expressions of the two CES1 alleles. The method was successfully applied to the determination of the ASPE of CES1 in 30 S75N heterozygous liver samples. Two cis-acting regulatory variants were found to be significantly associated with CES1 ASPE and protein expression in the human liver microsome samples (P < 0.05). The association was confirmed by the studies of CES1 expression and catalytic activity on enalapril hydrolysis in human liver S9 fraction samples. Compared to conventional gene expression-based approaches (e.g., GWAS), ASPE has a better statistical power to detect a regulatory variant with a small effect size since non-genetic regulators (e.g., inducers) would not alter the allelic expression ratios. Relative to mRNA allele-specific expression assays, ASPE also accounts for the genetic variants regulating gene

expression at the post-transcriptional level. Thus, the ASPE approach is expected to be widely used to identify cis-regulatory variants.

4.2 Introduction

The expression of a drug-metabolizing enzyme can vary markedly, which can be a major contributing factor to the interindividual variability in pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of its substrate medications. The CES1 gene is highly polymorphic with numerous genetic variants in both regulatory and coding regions. CES1 nonsynonymous variants have been extensively studied in the past decade. Among those identified CES1 nonsynonymous variants, the loss-of-function variant G143E (rs71647871) markedly altered the pharmacokinetics and clinical outcomes of several CES1 substrates, such as methylphenidate and clopidogrel ^{128,133}. However, these nonsynonymous variants can only explain a small portion of CES1 interindividual variability because of their low frequencies and do not account for the expression variation. Although much effort has been devoted to identifying CES1 regulatory variants ^{23,24,59-65,67,69,71}, none of the studied variants showed consistent effects on CES1 expression or clinical outcomes across different studies.

Regulatory genetic variants can be classified into two classes: cis- and transacting variants. A cis-acting regulatory variant is located in the proximity of the gene being regulated, such as the promoter of the gene, while a trans-variant and the regulated gene are usually located on different chromosomes ^{157,158}. As a consequence, cis-variants affect gene expression in an allele-specific manner, whereas trans-variants regulate gene expression in both alleles. Trans-variants typically have weaker effects on gene expression than cis-variants ¹⁵⁸⁻¹⁶⁰. Gene expression can be heavily influenced by

non-genetic factors (e.g., disease and age), which can impair the statistical power when the gene expression level is used as a phenotype for genetic variant identification. Accordingly, measuring gene allele-specific expression (ASE) has been increasingly used as a powerful means to identify cis-acting polymorphisms because non-genetic regulators do not alter the allelic expression ratios.

ASE was traditionally studied at the mRNA level. However, recent studies with various DMEs, including CES1, showed that mRNA expression was poorly correlated with the protein expression and enzymatic activity, whereas the correlations between protein levels and the corresponding enzymatic activity were high ^{161,162}. The discordant mRNA and protein expression are likely caused by post-transcriptional processes, such as protein translation, post-translational modification, and degradation. Genetic variants affecting such post-transcriptional processes could not be identified by conventional mRNA expression and ASE approaches. Thus, a new strategy is needed to study gene expression regulation at the protein level to identify all functional genetic variants, including those affecting gene expression at the post-transcriptional level. Accordingly, we recently developed a novel targeted proteomics method to precisely quantify the allele-specific protein expression (ASPE) of a gene using QconCAT internal standards (Figure 4-1)¹⁶³. This ASPE approach is superior to the conventional ASE method because it has the potential to detect genetic variants that regulate gene expression at the post-transcriptional level. The ASPE assay is also advantageous over conventional protein expression-based assays because allelic protein expression ratios are not affected by non-genetic regulators. In this study, we used this ASPE assay to identify cis-acting variants of the CES1 gene and revealed two single nucleotide polymorphisms

(SNPs) that were significantly associated with CES1 protein expression and activity in human livers.



Figure 4-1 ASPE Concept

4.3 Materials and Methods

4.3.1 Materials

Amino acids, acetonitrile, benzonase nuclease, calcium chloride hexahydrate, formic acid, glucose, M9 salts, magnesium sulfate, imidazole, isopropyl-D-1thiogalactopyranoside disodium phosphate, sodium chloride, thiamine, and trifluoroacetic acid were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich (Saint Louis, MO). ¹³C₆ arginine and ¹³C₆ and ¹⁵N₂ lysine were products from Cambridge Isotope Laboratories (Tewksbury, MA). Lysyl endopeptidase was purchased from Wako Chemicals (Richmond, VA). TPCK-treated trypsin was purchased from Worthington Biochemical Corporation (Freehold, NJ). Urea and dithiothreitol were purchased from Fisher Scientific Co. (Pittsburgh, PA). Iodoacetamide and ammonium bicarbonate were purchased from Acros Organics (Morris Plains, NJ). Water Oasis HLB columns were from Waters Corporation (Milford, MA). Synthetic iRT standards solution was from Biognosys AG (Cambridge, MA). *Escherichia coli* strain BL21(DE3) and BugBuster protein extraction reagent were products of EMD Millipore (Burlington, MA). HisTrap HP histidine-tagged protein purification columns were from GE Healthcare (Pittsburgh, PA). Lysozyme solution (50 mg/mL), slide-A-Lyzer G2 dialysis cassettes (3.5K MWCO), and Pierce[™] BCA protein assay kit were obtained from ThermoFisher Scientific (Waltham, MA). 287 normal human liver samples were obtained from XenoTech LLC (Lenexa, KS, USA), the University of Minnesota Liver Tissue Cell Distribution System, and the Cooperative Human Tissue Network (CHTN) (Supplemental Table 4-1) ¹³.

Characteristics		Number of Samples	Percentage (%)
Gender	Male	114	39.7
	Female	156	54.4
	Not available	17	5.9
Ethnicity	Caucasian	172	59.9
	Black	29	10.1
	Other	3	1.1
	Not available	83	28.9

Supplemental Table 4-1 Gender and ethnicity of human liver samples

4.3.2 Human Liver Sample Preparation Method

Human liver microsomes (HLM) and human liver S9 fractions (HLS9) were prepared using previously published methods ^{17,164}. Briefly, a 200 mg human liver tissue was cut into approximately one by one mm pieces and homogenized in 600 μ L PBS buffer (pH 7.4) using a tissue grinder. The sample was centrifuged at 10,000 x g for 30 min, and the supernatant (i.e., HLS9) was collected. To prepare HLM, the supernatant was transferred to Beckman ultracentrifuge tubes and centrifuged at 300,000 g for 20 min. The pellets were resuspended in PBS using a tissue grinder and collected (i.e., HLM). Protein concentrations were determined using a Pierce[™] BCA protein assay kit. Both HLS9 and HLM samples were stored at −80 °C until use. Of note, the same set of liver samples were used for the preparation of the HLM and HLS9 samples; however, different proteomics methods were used for CES1 protein quantifications (i.e., heavy stable isotype internal standard-based assay for HLM vs. label-free quantification method for HLS9) ¹³⁶.

4.3.3 QconCAT Internal Standard Preparation

A QconCAT DNA construct was synthesized de novo to generate the heavy isotope-labeled internal standard for the CES1 ASPE analysis ¹⁶³. The construct contains the DNA sequences encoding for both the wild-type CES1 tryptic peptide FTPPQPAEPW<u>S</u>FVK and the S75N (rs2307240) variant FTPPQPAEPW<u>N</u>FVK. The S75N is a benign nonsynonymous variant without significant effects on CES1 expression and activity ^{60,62} and was chosen as a biomarker to differentiate CES1 allelic expression. The minor allele frequency (MAF) S75N is around 5% across different populations ⁶⁰. Both peptides are flanked by 15 native amino acids to ensure the same trypsin digestion efficiency ¹⁶³. The DNA construct also includes three CES1 surrogate peptides (AISESGVALTSVLVK, TAMSLLWK, and ELIPEATEK) for total CES1 protein quantification.

The QconCAT DNA construct was transformed to *Escherichia coli* strain BL2L and cultured in the medium supplemented with ${}^{13}C_6$ arginine, ${}^{13}C_6$, and ${}^{15}N_2$ lysine. QconCAT protein expression was induced via adding 1 mM isopropyl-D-1- thiogalactopyranoside. After 5 hours of growth at 37°C, the cells were lysed, and

QconCAT proteins were extracted using affinity chromatography followed by three rounds of dialysis against 50 mM ammonium bicarbonate containing 1 mM dithiothreitol.

4.3.4 **Proteomic Sample Preparation**

HLS9 and HLM samples were prepared for proteomics analysis using the method we previously published ¹⁶⁵. Briefly, 80 μ *g* HLS9 or HLM protein was mixed with 0.2 μ g bovine serum albumin. For the HLM samples, the QconCAT internal standard (172 ng) was also added. One ml of precooled acetone was added, and the mixture was briefly vortexed and stored at -20°C for at least 2 hours to precipitate proteins. The mixture was then centrifuged at 17,000*g* for 15 minutes at 4°C, the supernatant was removed, and the pellet (i.e., precipitated proteins) was air-dried. The pellet was resuspended in 100 μ l of 4 mM dithiothreitol/8 M urea solution/100 mM NH₄HCO₃ solution for reduction at 37°C for 45 minutes. A 100 μ l of 20 mM iodoacetamide/8 M urea solution/100 mM NH₄HCO₃ was added, and the mixture was incubated at room temperature in the dark for 30 minutes for alkylation. Following the incubation, 56.6 μ l of 50 mM NH₄HCO₃ was added to adjust the urea concentration to 6 M.

A two-step protease digestion protocol was used to digest the proteins. The first digestion was with lysyl endopeptidase (protein: lysyl endopeptidase = 100:1) in an orbital incubator shaker at 220 rpm and 37°C for 6 hours. Then, 733 μ l of 50 mM NH₄HCO₃ was added to further adjust the urea concentration to 1.6 M. The second digestion was carried out with tosyl phenylalanyl chloromethyl ketone-treated trypsin (protein: trypsin = 50:1) at 220 rpm and 37°C for overnight. One μ l trifluoroacetic acid was added to terminate the digestion. Waters Oasis HLB columns were utilized to clean and extract the digested peptides. The eluted peptides were dried in a SpeedVac

SPD1010 vacuum concentrator and resuspended in 3% acetonitrile solution with 0.1% formic acid. The eluted peptides were then centrifuged, and half of the supernatant was transferred to an autosampler vial and mixed with 1 µl of the synthetic iRT standards solution prior to LC-MS/MS analysis.

4.3.5 LC-MS/MS-Based Proteomics Analysis

The Proteomic analysis was conducted using the previously published method ¹³⁶on a TripleTOF 5600+ mass spectrometer (AB Sciex, Framingham, MA) coupled with an Eksigent 2D plus LC system (Eksigent Technologies, Dublin, CA). A trap-elute configuration was adopted for the analysis, which included a trapping column (ChromXP C18-CL, 120 Å, 5 µm, 0.3 mm cartridge, Eksigent Technologies, Dublin, CA) and an analytical column (ChromXP C18-CL, 120 Å, 150 × 0.3 mm, 5 µm, Eksigent Technologies, Dublin, CA). Six µg of digested proteins were injected, and peptides were trapped and cleaned on the trapping column with the mobile phase A (water with 0.1%) formic acid) at a flow rate of 10 µl/min for 3 min before being separated on the analytical column with gradient elution at a flow rate of 5 μ /min. The gradient time program was set as follows for the phase B (acetonitrile containing 0.1% formic acid): 0-68 min: 3%-30%, 68–73 min: 30%–40%, 73–75 min: 40%–80%, 75–78 min: 80%, 78–79 min: 80%– 3%, and finally 79–90 min at 3% for column equilibration. A blank sample was injected between each analysis to prevent carryover. The mass spectrometer was operated in a positive ion mode with an ion spray voltage floating at 5500 v, ion source gas one at 28 psi, ion source gas two at 16 psi, curtain gas at 25 psi, and ion source temperature at 280 °C.

Both HLS9 and HLM samples were analyzed using a DIA method we previously reported, which included a 250-ms TOF-MS scan from 400 to 1250 Da and MS/MS scans from 100 to 1500 Da ¹⁶⁶. The MS/MS scans of all precursors were performed in a cyclic manner using a 100-variable isolation window scheme. The accumulation time was 25 ms per isolation window, resulting in a total cycle time of 2.8 s.

For the S75N heterozygous HLM samples, the expression levels of two alleles of CES1 (i.e., ASPE) were determined based on the ratios of the light peptides FTPPQPAEPWNFVK (S75N mutant peptide) and FTPPQPAEPWSFVK (S75N wild-type peptide) to the corresponding heavy internal standards. Total CES1 protein expression levels in the HLM were determined based on the ratios of the peak areas of the CES1 signature peptides AISESGVALTSVLVK, TAMSLLWK, and ELIPEATEK to their heavy isotope-labeled internal standard counterparts. The Skyline software (University of Washington, Seattle, WA) was used for the HLM proteomics data analysis. The HLS9 DIA data were analyzed by the Spectronaut[™] Pulsar software (version 11.0; Biognosys AG, Schlieren, Switzerland) with default settings (precursor Q value < 0.01, protein Q value < 0.01) and its internal reference spectral library "Human - Liver (fractionated)".

4.3.6 CES1 Activity Measurements

Enalapril is a selective substrate of CES1, and enalapril hydrolysis was determined in the HLS9 samples as a surrogate maker for CES1 activity ¹⁷. Briefly, 100 µl of enalapril solution (0.5mg/mL in PBS) was mixed with 100 µl of 0.2 mg/ml of HLS9. After incubation at 37°C for 10 min, the reactions were terminated by adding a 4-fold volume of methanol containing the analytical internal standard 5-hydroxyomeprazole

(10 ng/ml). Then, the samples were vortexed and centrifuged at 13,200 rpm at 4°C for 20 min to remove the precipitated proteins. The supernatant was collected and analyzed for the concentrations of the hydrolytic metabolite enalaprilat utilizing an LC-MS/MS method ¹⁷.

4.3.7 Data Analysis

The genotype data of the human liver samples (n=287) were retrieved from a study recently published by our group ¹⁶⁷, which contained 1,779,819 genetic markers. The subsequent quality control analysis was performed to remove SNPs with MAF < 0.01 or deviating from Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium (p < 0.0001) ¹⁶⁷. The genotype data were phased during genotype imputation ¹⁶⁷ in order to detect the allele-specific effects of cis-regulatory variants. Previous literature suggested that cis-acting regulatory variants are usually located approximately 5,000 base pairs (bp) upstream and downstream of the gene ^{168,169}. Thus, a total of 856 SNPs located 5,000 bp upstream and and downstream of the CES1 gene were included in this study. SNPs were removed if their MAFs were less than 10% in the 30 S75N heterozygous liver samples. Moreover, when several SNPs were in complete linkage disequilibrium, only one SNP was used as the tag SNP for data analysis to alleviate the multiple testing burden. Overall, 72 SNPs were tested in this study.

The CES1 ASPE ratios of 75S to 75N were log2 transformed to normalize the effect size of regulatory SNPs, given that the SNPs can reside on either the S or the N allele. For each of the 72 SNPs, two linear models were created to identify CES1 cis-regulatory variants. The first model used the S75N ASPE ratios as the phenotype to test

the associations between the genotypes and the ASPE ratios in the S75N heterozygous samples (n=30). The second model used the total CES1 expression (i.e., the CES1 expression from both alleles) to test the associations between the genotypes and the CES1 expression in all 287 liver samples. P-values from the two linear models were then combined using a Fisher's combined probability test, and the Benjamini-Hochberg method was used for the multiple testing correction (Table1)

Table 4-1	Statistical	Analysis
-----------	-------------	----------

	Test 1 (ASPE)	Test 2 (Total	Expression)	Joint	Adjusted
SNP	ASE Beta P-value		TE Beta P-value		P-Value	P-Value
rs6499788	-0.18	0.0078	-0.31	0.0077	0.00064	0.033*
rs35918553	-0.18	0.0078	-0.3	0.0114	0.00092	0.033*

• Linear regression t-test was performed for Test 1 and Test 2.

 Test 1 and Test 2 were performed independently, and p-values from Test 1 and Test2 were combined using Fisher's combined probability test for each SNP (i.e., Joint P-Value)

• Joint P-value was corrected using Benjamini-Hochberg method to correct multiple testing bias (i.e., adjusted P-value)

The conventional genome-wide association study (GWAS) was performed using

the previously published method ¹⁶⁷. The HLM and HLS9 expression data and genotype

datasets from the same human liver samples were used. After QC of the genomic data

¹⁷⁰, the GWAS for both S9 and CES1 datasets including gender as a covariate for

analysis.

4.4 Results

4.4.1 CES1 ASPE and CES1 Protein Expression in HLM and HLS9

We measured the CES1 ASPE in 30 S75N heterozygous liver samples using a QconCAT internal standard. The ASPE ratios of 75S to 75N ranged from 0.80 to 1.47 (log2 transformed values: -0.3 to 0.5) (Figure 4-2), indicating the presence of cis-regulatory genetic variants of the CES1 gene. Total CES1 expressions varied markedly in both HLM and HLS9 samples. Neither HLM nor HLS9 CES1 levels were significantly correlated with the ASPE ratios in the 30 S75N heterozygous samples.



Figure 4-2 CES1 Expression

4.4.2 GWAS Result

Conventional GWAS could not detect any regulatory variant affecting the CES1 protein expression level in both HLM and HLS9, probably due to the heavy background noise (Figure 4-3).

Manhattan plot: \$9 CE\$1 Linear Association

Manhattan plot: HLM CES1 Linear Association



Figure 4-3 Conventional GWAS could not detect any CES1 regulatory variant affecting the expression level detect, probably due to the heavy background noise.

4.4.3 Identification of Cis-Acting CES1 Regulatory Variants

The ASPE-based statistical model revealed two CES1 regulatory variants (rs6499788, rs35918553) significantly associated with CES1 ASPE in the HLM samples (Figure 4-4). Moreover, rs6499788 and rs35918553 were associated with 15.9% (P = 0.01) and 14.9% (P = 0.01) reductions of total CES1 expressions in HLM, respectively. The effect of the two variants on CES1 protein expression was also evaluated in HLS9 prepared from the same human liver samples. Consistent with the findings from HLM, rs6499788 and rs35918553 were associated with 10.3% and 11.8% reductions, respectively, in CES1 protein expression in HLS9 (Figure 4-5). The activity study confirmed that rs6499788 and rs35918553 reduced CES1 activity on hydrolyzing the CES1 selective substrate enalapril by 27.9% (P = 0.04) and 26.6% (P = 0.08), respectively, in the HLS9 samples. (Figure 4-5).





Figure 4-5 Validation; impact of rs6499788 and rs35918553 on CES1 protein expression and catalytic activity on enalapril hydrolysis.

rs6499788 and rs35918553 are located within 5000 bp upstream of the CES1 gene (Table 4-2). Both SNPs are common variants (MAF: rs6499788: 27.7% and rs35918553: 27.2%) and are in high linkage disequilibrium (D = 1, Ensembl genome database). The impact of rs6499788 and rs35918553 on CES1 protein expression and catalytic activity on enalapril hydrolysis on Table 4-3 and Table 4-4.

Table 4-2 Summary of the SNP

SNP	Allele Change	Position	BP from CES1	MAF	P-Value
rs6499788	T>A	16:55871837	4127	0.27	0.033*
rs35918553	A>G	16:55871135	4829	0.27	0.033*

 Table 4-3 Impact of rs6499788 on CES1 protein expression and catalytic activity

 on enalapril hydrolysis

rs6499788	TT			TA or AT			AA			R ²	P-Value
Average relative CES1 expression in HLM	4.01	±	1.34	3.66	±	1.42	3.37	±	1.31	0.02	0.01
Average absolute CES1 expression in HLS9 (ng/ug protein)	14.99	±	5.46	14.24	±	4.89	13.44	±	4.24	0.01	0.05
Enalapril Hydrolysis Rate (pmol/min/mg protein)	69.08	±	44.70	64.94	±	50.55	49.77	±	29.82	0.03	0.04

• Relative CES1 expression was quantified using QconCAT IS.

Absolute CES1 expression was quantified using a label-free quantification method. ¹³⁶

 Enalapril hydrolysis rate was used as a surrogate marker for CES1 activity. Enalapril is a selective substrate of CES1.¹⁷
 Table 4-4 Impact of rs35918553 on CES1 protein expression and catalytic activity on enalapril hydrolysis

rs35918553		AA		AG or GA			GG			R ²	P-Value
Average relative CES1 expression in HLM	3.95	±	1.31	3.69	±	1.44	3.37	±	1.31	0.02	0.01
Average absolute CES1 expression in HLS9 (ng/ug protein)	15.23	±	5.39	14.20	±	4.93	13.43	±	4.22	0.01	0.03
Enalapril Hydrolysis Rate (pmol/min/mg protein)	69.08	±	44.70	63.01	±	49.36	50.68	±	31.14	0.02	0.08

• Relative CES1 expression was quantified using QconCAT IS.

Absolute CES1 expression was quantified using a label-free quantification method. ¹³⁶

 Enalapril hydrolysis rate was used as a surrogate marker for CES1 activity. Enalapril is a selective substrate of CES1.¹⁷

4.5 Discussion

For the first time, a novel ASPE approach was utilized to identify cis-regulatory genetic variants, resulting in the identification of two cis-acting CES1 genetic variants associated with CES1 ASPE and protein expression in HLM. The findings were further validated with the CES1 protein expression and CES1 activity data obtained from HLS9 samples. This novel ASPE method enabled us to detect regulatory variants with a small effect size (Figure 4-4) that the conventional genome-wide association study (GWAS) was not able to detect (Figure 4-3), probably due to that GWAS is more prone to the influence of the expression variability caused by non-genetic regulators. These small-effect-size yet common variants (MAF 0.277) could play an important role in building a comprehensive model to better predict the PK and PD of CES1 substrate drugs.

Importance of studying CES1 regulatory variant

CES1 is an important drug-metabolizing enzyme responsible for 80-95% of total hydrolytic activity in the liver ². CES1 plays a key role in the first-pass metabolism of endogenous compounds, environmental toxins, and numerous therapeutic agents ^{17,171} CES1 expression and activity vary significantly among individuals, which is a major factor contributing to inter-individual variability in response to medications metabolized by CES1. Though considerable efforts have been devoted to the study of functional CES1 genetic variants, to date, the nonsynonymous variant G143E (rs71647871) is the only clinically significant loss-of-function variant identified for CES1 ^{23,24,59-65,67,69,71}. However, considering the MAF of G143E is 2–4% (carrier frequency 4-8%),¹⁷ G143E can only explain a small portion of inter-individual variability of CES1 function.

While nonsynonymous polymorphisms (nsSNP) can directly affect the catalytic function of an enzyme by altering amino acid sequences in regions critical to the protein function, regulatory variants can affect the function of an enzyme by regulating the gene expression level.¹⁷² To the best of our knowledge, the two CES1 regulatory variants identified in the present study are the first found to be associated with both CES1 protein expression level and CES1 activity. Sanford et al. reported a translocation variant CES1VAR reduces mRNA expression of CES1 by 30%. However, this regulatory variant identified by a conventional ASE method was not associated with CES1 protein expression or CES1 activity.

Novelty and significance of the ASPE assay

The main advantage of this assay is an improved statistical power to detect even a small effect size variant by filtering out non-genetic regulators (e.g., diseases and inducers). In addition, the ASPE method accounts for the genetic variants regulating gene expression at the post-transcription level. To date, the most common method to identify functional regulatory genetic variants involves the association study between the mRNA expression level and genetic variations. Unfortunately, drug-metabolizing enzymes in particular have a poor correlation between mRNA and protein expression levels as various regulatory elements can affect post-transcriptional processing of mRNA (RNA silencing and sequestration, for instance), resulting in high false positive or false negative rates.^{78,173-175} Recently, protein expression level has been increasingly used as the phenotype to identify regulatory genetic variants, ^{175,176} however, the power of this approach is compromised by the fact that protein expression may also be influenced by non-genetic factors in addition to genetic variants.

Instead of measuring total protein expression from both alleles of a gene, ASPE enables accurate quantification of protein expression from each allele of the gene. Since *cis*-regulatory variants influence gene expression in an allele-specific manner while *trans*-acting regulatory elements and environmental factors affect gene expression on both alleles, the observation of an allelic expression imbalance would suggest the existence of *cis*-acting regulatory elements. Thus, ASPE is more accurate, sensitive, and robust than conventional approaches (e.g., GWAS), given that the expression of each of the two alleles is measured simultaneously in the same individual under the same experimental conditions, and each allele can serve as a control for the other.

Although the present study focused on CES1 genetic variants, this ASPE assay could potentially be widely used to identify regulatory variants of other genes.

Some limitations of the study involve a small sample size of the S75N heterozygous HLM samples (n=30) and a lack of true biological replicates for the validation study. Future studies are warranted to examine the effect of rs6499788 and rs35918553 on the PK and PD of drugs metabolized by CES1. In addition, future investigations involving more S75N heterozygous liver samples method might allow researchers to detect more cis-acting CES1 regulatory variants.

Chapter 5: Conclusions and Future Directions

The work presented in this thesis focuses on CES1 pharmacogenetics and precision medicine. We have examined and confirmed the impact of a loss-of-function G143E variant on CES1 catalytic efficiency on CES1 substrate, enalapril, in healthy volunteers. We have also identified two regulatory variants that impacted the CES1 protein expression and activity in human livers.

In the near future, the CES1 pharmacogenetics testing will likely be implemented in the clinic prior to prescribing a CES1 substrate medication. Considering the significant impact of G143E on the PK of CES1 substrates and the low cost of genetic testing¹⁷⁷, it is cost-effective to check the CES1 genetic variants before prescribing CES1 substrate medication. The prospective PGx-PK/PD clinical study reported the CES1 G143E genetic variant significantly impacted the enalapril PK in healthy volunteers. To translate this information into clinical practice, a more defined and structured dose adjustment suggestion is needed. A future clinical study with the patient population can give us the information necessary on how we should adjust the dose of enalapril (and other CES1 substrates).

The previously reported PGx research tended to focus on one genetic variant with a noticeable effect size. However, common variants with a small effect size can work together to create a clinically significant impact. The ASPE assay has identified two CES1 regulatory variants with a small effect size (R² range 0.01-0.03) with MAF over 27%. CES1 nonsynonymous variants (e.g., G143E) combined with common regulatory variants (i.e., rs6499788, rs35918553) will give us a more holistic picture and accurate prediction of the PK and PD of CES1 substrates.

All CES1 genetic variants identified to date can only explain a small portion of interindividual variability of the CES1 function ¹. The CES1 G143E variation can only explain a limited portion of enalapril response variation in clinical practice (MAF 0-4%); two regulatory variants identified had a very small effect size. Previous in vitro studies observed a marked variability of CES1 protein expression in human liver samples ^{17,136}. Given the G143E only affects the catalytic efficiency of CES1 without altering its expression ^{73,133,137}, the main source of interindividual variability in the current study may have resulted from the different expression levels of CES1 in individual participants. Reliable CES1 biomarkers capable of predicting hepatic CES1 expression could be used to further improve the therapeutic outcomes of enalapril and other CES1 substrate drugs. As an excretory protein, CES1 can be released into the blood from tissues with high levels of CES1 expression (i.e., the liver). Our lab recently detected CES1 protein in human plasma using a highly sensitive LC-MS/MS proteomics assay ¹³⁸. Although plasma CES1 is insignificant for drug metabolism due to its extremely low plasma concentration, there is potential for plasma CES1 protein to be served as a biomarker to predict the PK and PD of enalapril and other CES1 substrate drugs. Alternatively, plasma exosomes are extracellular vesicles and contain functional proteins and nucleic acids derived from cells of different origins. A recent study showed high correlations between exosomal mRNA expressions and hepatic protein levels for several hepatic drug-metabolizing enzymes ¹³⁹, but CES1 was not included in the study.

It is plausible that CES1 genetic variants and plasma and exosomal CES1 could be used as complemental biomarkers allowing for the prediction of a large portion of CES1 variability and the development of an individualized pharmacotherapy strategy to improve the effectiveness and safety of drugs metabolized by CES1.

Bibliography

- 1. Her L, Zhu HJ. Carboxylesterase 1 and Precision Pharmacotherapy: Pharmacogenetics and Nongenetic Regulators. *Drug metabolism and disposition: the biological fate of chemicals.* 2020;48(3):230-244.
- 2. Imai T, Taketani M, Shii M, Hosokawa M, Chiba K. Substrate specificity of carboxylesterase isozymes and their contribution to hydrolase activity in human liver and small intestine. *Drug Metabolism and Disposition.* 2006;34(10):1734-1741.
- 3. Lewis JP, Horenstein RB, Ryan K, et al. The functional G143E variant of carboxylesterase 1 is associated with increased clopidogrel active metabolite levels and greater clopidogrel response. *Pharmacogenet Genom.* 2013;23(1):1-8.
- 4. Jiang XL, Samant S, Lewis JP, et al. Development of a physiology-directed population pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic model for characterizing the impact of genetic and demographic factors on clopidogrel response in healthy adults. *Eur J Pharm Sci.* 2016;82:64-78.
- 5. Zhu HJ, Patrick KS, Yuan HJ, et al. Two CES1 gene mutations lead to dysfunctional carboxylesterase 1 activity in man: Clinical significance and molecular basis. *Am J Hum Genet.* 2008;82(6):1241-1248.
- 6. Tarkiainen EK, Backman JT, Neuvonen M, Neuvonen PJ, Schwab M, Niemi M. Carboxylesterase 1 polymorphism impairs oseltamivir bioactivation in humans. *Clin Pharmacol Ther.* 2012;92(1):68-71.
- 7. Ghosh S, Zhao B, Bie J, Song J. Macrophage cholesteryl ester mobilization and atherosclerosis. *Vascul Pharmacol.* 2010;52(1-2):1-10.
- 8. Dolinsky VW, Gilham D, Alam M, Vance DE, Lehner R. Triacylglycerol hydrolase: role in intracellular lipid metabolism. *Cell Mol Life Sci.* 2004;61(13):1633-1651.
- Zhao B, Song J, St Clair RW, Ghosh S. Stable overexpression of human macrophage cholesteryl ester hydrolase results in enhanced free cholesterol efflux from human THP1 macrophages. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol.* 2007;292(1):C405-412.
- 10. Ross MK, Streit TM, Herring KL. Carboxylesterases: Dual roles in lipid and pesticide metabolism. *J Pestic Sci.* 2010;35(3):257-264.

- 11. Lian JH, Nelson R, Lehner R. Carboxylesterases in lipid metabolism: from mouse to human. *Protein & Cell.* 2018;9(2):178-195.
- 12. Rautio J, Kumpulainen H, Heimbach T, et al. Prodrugs: design and clinical applications. *Nat Rev Drug Discov.* 2008;7(3):255-270.
- 13. Shah VP, Amidon GL. G.L. Amidon, H. Lennernas, V.P. Shah, and J.R. Crison. A theoretical basis for a biopharmaceutic drug classification: the correlation of in vitro drug product dissolution and in vivo bioavailability, Pharm Res 12, 413-420, 1995--backstory of BCS. *Aaps J.* 2014;16(5):894-898.
- 14. Rautio J, Karkkainen J, Sloan KB. Prodrugs Recent approvals and a glimpse of the pipeline. *Eur J Pharm Sci.* 2017;109:146-161.
- 15. Fukami T, Yokoi T. The emerging role of human esterases. *Drug Metab Pharmacokinet.* 2012;27(5):466-477.
- 16. Jewell C, Bennett P, Mutch E, Ackermann C, Williams FM. Inter-individual variability in esterases in human liver. *Biochem Pharmacol.* 2007;74(6):932-939.
- 17. Wang X, Wang G, Shi J, et al. CES1 genetic variation affects the activation of angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors. *Pharmacogenomics J.* 2016;16(3):220-230.
- 18. DiPiro JT. *Pharmacotherapy : a pathophysiologic approach.* Tenth edition. ed. New York: McGraw-Hill Education; 2017.
- 19. Foti RS, Dalvie DK. Cytochrome P450 and Non-Cytochrome P450 Oxidative Metabolism: Contributions to the Pharmacokinetics, Safety, and Efficacy of Xenobiotics. *Drug Metab Dispos.* 2016;44(8):1229-1245.
- 20. Ando Y, Saka H, Ando M, et al. Polymorphisms of UDP-glucuronosyltransferase gene and irinotecan toxicity: a pharmacogenetic analysis. *Cancer Res.* 2000;60(24):6921-6926.
- 21. Innocenti F, Undevia SD, Iyer L, et al. Genetic variants in the UDPglucuronosyltransferase 1A1 gene predict the risk of severe neutropenia of irinotecan. *J Clin Oncol.* 2004;22(8):1382-1388.
- 22. Fukami T, Nakajima M, Maruichi T, et al. Structure and characterization of human carboxylesterase 1A1, 1A2, and 1A3 genes. *Pharmacogenet Genomics*. 2008;18(10):911-920.
- 23. Hosokawa M, Furihata T, Yaginuma Y, et al. Structural organization and characterization of the regulatory element of the human carboxylesterase (CES1A1 and CES1A2) genes. *Drug Metab Pharmacok.* 2008;23(1):73-84.

- 24. Yoshimura M, Kimura T, Ishii M, et al. Functional polymorphisms in carboxylesterase1A2 (CES1A2) gene involves specific protein 1 (Sp1) binding sites. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun.* 2008;369(3):939-942.
- 25. Suzaki Y, Uemura N, Hosokawa M, Ohashi K. Gly143Glu polymorphism of the human carboxylesterase1 gene in an Asian population. *Eur J Clin Pharmacol.* 2013;69(3):735-736.
- 26. Satoh T, Hosokawa M. Structure, function and regulation of carboxylesterases. *Chem Biol Interact.* 2006;162(3):195-211.
- 27. Arena de Souza V, Scott DJ, Nettleship JE, et al. Comparison of the Structure and Activity of Glycosylated and Aglycosylated Human Carboxylesterase 1. *PLoS One.* 2015;10(12):e0143919.
- 28. Zhu HJ, Markowitz JS. Activation of the Antiviral Prodrug Oseltamivir Is Impaired by Two Newly Identified Carboxylesterase 1 Variants. *Drug Metab Dispos.* 2009;37(2):264-267.
- 29. Zhu HJ, Wang X, Gawronski BE, Brinda BJ, Angiolillo DJ, Markowitz JS. Carboxylesterase 1 as a determinant of clopidogrel metabolism and activation. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther.* 2013;344(3):665-672.
- 30. Zhu HJ, Appel DI, Johnson JA, Chavin KD, Markowitz JS. Role of carboxylesterase 1 and impact of natural genetic variants on the hydrolysis of trandolapril. *Biochem Pharmacol.* 2009;77(7):1266-1272.
- 31. Laizure SC, Parker RB, Herring VL, Hu ZY. Identification of carboxylesterasedependent dabigatran etexilate hydrolysis. *Drug Metab Dispos.* 2014;42(2):201-206.
- 32. Neos Therapeutics IGP, TX. Product Information: COTEMPLA XR-ODT(TM) oral extended-release disintegrating tablets, methylphenidate oral extended-release disintegrating tablets. 2017.
- 33. Heal DJ, Pierce DM. Methylphenidate and its isomers Their role in the treatment of attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder using a transdermal delivery system. *Cns Drugs.* 2006;20(9):713-738.
- 34. Laizure SC, Herring V, Hu ZY, Witbrodt K, Parker RB. The Role of Human Carboxylesterases in Drug Metabolism: Have We Overlooked Their Importance? *Pharmacotherapy.* 2013;33(2):210-222.
- 35. Patrick KS, Straughn AB, Minhinnett RR, et al. Influence of ethanol and gender on methylphenidate pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics. *Clin Pharmacol Ther.* 2007;81(3):346-353.
- Nemoda Z, Angyal N, Tarnok Z, Gadoros J, Sasvari-Szekely M. Carboxylesterase 1 gene polymorphism and methylphenidate response in ADHD. *Neuropharmacology*. 2009;57(7-8):731-733.
- 37. Stage C, Jurgens G, Guski LS, et al. The impact of CES1 genotypes on the pharmacokinetics of methylphenidate in healthy Danish subjects. *Br J Clin Pharmacol.* 2017;83(7):1506-1514.
- Schubert I, Koster I, Lehmkuhl G. The Changing Prevalence of Attention-Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder and Methylphenidate Prescriptions A Study of Data From a Random Sample of Insurees of the AOK Health Insurance Company in the German State of Hesse, 2000-2007. *Dtsch Arztebl Int.* 2010;107(36):615-U622.
- 39. Wiviott SD, Braunwald E, McCabe CH, et al. Prasugrel versus clopidogrel in patients with acute coronary syndromes. *N Engl J Med.* 2007;357(20):2001-2015.
- 40. Roe MT, Armstrong PW, Fox KAA, et al. Prasugrel versus Clopidogrel for Acute Coronary Syndromes without Revascularization. *New Engl J Med.* 2012;367(14):1297-1309.
- 41. Wallentin L, Becker RC, Budaj A, et al. Ticagrelor versus clopidogrel in patients with acute coronary syndromes. *N Engl J Med.* 2009;361(11):1045-1057.
- 42. Scott SA, Sangkuhl K, Stein CM, et al. Clinical Pharmacogenetics Implementation Consortium Guidelines for CYP2C19 Genotype and Clopidogrel Therapy: 2013 Update. *Clin Pharmacol Ther.* 2013;94(3):317-323.
- 43. Bozzi LM, Mitchell BD, Lewis JP, et al. The Pharmacogenomics of Anti-Platelet Intervention (PAPI) Study: Variation in Platelet Response to Clopidogrel and Aspirin. *Curr Vasc Pharmacol.* 2016;14(1):116-124.
- 44. Tarkiainen EK, Holmberg MT, Tornio A, et al. Carboxylesterase 1 c.428G>A single nucleotide variation increases the antiplatelet effects of clopidogrel by reducing its hydrolysis in humans. *Clin Pharmacol Ther.* 2015;97(6):650-658.
- 45. Shmyr D, Van der Merwe V, Yakiwchuk E, Barry A, Kosar L. Triple antithrombotic therapy for atrial fibrillation and coronary stents. *Can Fam Physician.* 2017;63(5):375-381.
- 46. Mehta SR, Yusuf S, Peters RJ, et al. Effects of pretreatment with clopidogrel and aspirin followed by long-term therapy in patients undergoing percutaneous coronary intervention: the PCI-CURE study. *Lancet.* 2001;358(9281):527-533.
- 47. Steinhubl SR, Berger PB, Mann JT, 3rd, et al. Early and sustained dual oral antiplatelet therapy following percutaneous coronary intervention: a randomized controlled trial. *JAMA*. 2002;288(19):2411-2420.

- 48. Mahmoudpour SH, Asselbergs FW, de Keyser CE, et al. Change in prescription pattern as a potential marker for adverse drug reactions of angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitors. *Int J Clin Pharm-Net.* 2015;37(6):1095-1103.
- 49. Chaturvedi S. The Seventh Report of the Joint National Committee on Prevention, Detection, Evaluation, and Treatment of High Blood Pressure (JNC 7): is it really practical? *Natl Med J India.* 2004;17(4):227.
- 50. Yancy CW, Jessup M, Bozkurt B, et al. 2017 ACC/AHA/HFSA Focused Update of the 2013 ACCF/AHA Guideline for the Management of Heart Failure A Report of the American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association Task Force on Clinical Practice Guidelines and the Heart Failure Society of America. *Circulation.* 2017;136(6):E137-+.
- 51. Foye WO, Lemke TL, Williams DA. *Foye's principles of medicinal chemistry.* 7th ed. Philadelphia: Wolters Kluwer Health/Lippincott Williams & Wilkins; 2013.
- 52. Tarkiainen EK, Tornio A, Holmberg MT, et al. Effect of carboxylesterase 1 c.428G > A single nucleotide variation on the pharmacokinetics of quinapril and enalapril. *Br J Clin Pharmacol.* 2015;80(5):1131-1138.
- 53. Wang X, Her L, Xiao J, et al. Impact of carboxylesterase 1 genetic polymorphism on trandolapril activation in human liver and the pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics in healthy volunteers. *Clin Transl Sci.* 2021.
- 54. Dahlgren FS, Shay DK, Izurieta HS, et al. Evaluating oseltamivir prescriptions in Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services medical claims records as an indicator of seasonal influenza in the United States. *Influenza Other Resp.* 2018;12(4):465-474.
- 55. Singh S, Barghoorn J, Bagdonas A, et al. Clinical benefits with oseltamivir in treating influenza in adult populations : results of a pooled and subgroup analysis. *Clin Drug Investig.* 2003;23(9):561-569.
- 56. Shi DS, Yang J, Yang DF, et al. Anti-influenza prodrug oseltamivir is activated by carboxylesterase human carboxylesterase 1, and the activation is inhibited by antiplatelet agent clopidogrel. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther.* 2006;319(3):1477-1484.
- 57. Shi J, Wang XW, Nguyen JH, et al. Dabigatran etexilate activation is affected by the CES1 genetic polymorphism G143E (rs71647871) and gender. *Biochemical Pharmacology.* 2016;119:76-84.
- 58. Shi J, Wang XW, Nguyen J, Wu A, Bleske B, Zhu HJ. Sacubitril is selectively activated by carboxylesterase 1 (CES1) in the liver and the activation is affected by CES1 genetic variation. *Faseb J.* 2016;30.
- 59. Oh J, Lee S, Lee H, et al. The novel carboxylesterase 1 variant c.662A>G may decrease the bioactivation of oseltamivir in humans. *Plos One.* 2017;12(4).

- 60. Wang X, Rida N, Shi J, Wu A, Bleske B, Zhu HJ. A comprehensive functional assessment of carboxylesterase 1 nonsynonymous polymorphisms. *Drug Metab Dispos.* 2017.
- 61. Xiao FY, Luo JQ, Liu M, et al. Effect of carboxylesterase 1 S75N on clopidogrel therapy among acute coronary syndrome patients. *Sci Rep-Uk.* 2017;7.
- 62. Johnson KA, Barry E, Lambert D, et al. Methylphenidate Side Effect Profile Is Influenced by Genetic Variation in the Attention-Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder-Associated CES1 Gene. *J Child Adol Psychop.* 2013;23(10):655-664.
- 63. Geshi E, Kimura T, Yoshimura M, et al. A single nucleotide polymorphism in the carboxylesterase gene is associated with the responsiveness to imidapril medication and the promoter activity. *Hypertens Res.* 2005;28(9):719-725.
- 64. Xie C, Ding X, Gao J, et al. The effects of CES1A2 A(-816)C and CYP2C19 lossof-function polymorphisms on clopidogrel response variability among Chinese patients with coronary heart disease. *Pharmacogenet Genomics*. 2014;24(4):204-210.
- 65. Zou J-J, Chen S-L, Fan H-W, Tan J, He B-S, Xie H-G. The CES1A -816C as a genetic marker to predict greater platelet clopidogrel response in patients with percutaneous coronary intervention. *Journal of Cardiovascular Pharmacology*. 2014;63(2):178-183.
- 66. Zhu HJ, Langaee TY, Gong Y, et al. CES1P1 variant-816A > C is not associated with hepatic carboxylesterase 1 expression and activity or antihypertensive effect of trandolapril. *Eur J Clin Pharmacol.* 2016;72(6):681-687.
- 67. Tanimoto K, Kaneyasu M, Shimokuni T, Hiyama K, Nishiyama M. Human carboxylesterase 1A2 expressed from carboxylesterase 1A1 and 1A2 genes is a potent predictor of CPT-11 cytotoxicity in vitro. *Pharmacogenet Genom.* 2007;17(1):1-10.
- 68. Bruxel EM, Salatino-Oliveira A, Genro JP, et al. Association of a carboxylesterase 1 polymorphism with appetite reduction in children and adolescents with attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder treated with methylphenidate. *Pharmacogenomics J.* 2013;13(5):476-480.
- 69. Sai K, Saito Y, Tatewaki N, et al. Association of carboxylesterase 1A genotypes with irinotecan pharmacokinetics in Japanese cancer patients. *Br J Clin Pharmacol.* 2010;70(2):222-233.
- 70. Nelveg-Kristensen KE, Madsen MB, Torp-Pedersen C, et al. Prognostic impact of carboxylesterase 1 gene variants in patients with congestive heart failure treated with angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors. *Pharmacogenet Genomics.* 2016;26(4):169-177.

- 71. Yamada S, Richardson K, Tang M, et al. Genetic variation in carboxylesterase genes and susceptibility to isoniazid-induced hepatotoxicity. *Pharmacogenomics J.* 2010;10(6):524-536.
- 72. Pare G, Eriksson N, Lehr T, et al. Genetic Determinants of Dabigatran Plasma Levels and Their Relation to Bleeding. *Circulation*. 2013;127(13):1404-+.
- 73. Shi J, Wang X, Nguyen JH, et al. Dabigatran etexilate activation is affected by the CES1 genetic polymorphism G143E (rs71647871) and gender. *Biochem Pharmacol.* 2016;119:76-84.
- 74. Stage C, Jurgens G, Guski LS, et al. The Pharmacokinetics of Enalapril in Relation to CES1 Genotype in Healthy Danish Volunteers. *Basic Clin Pharmacol.* 2017;121(6):487-492.
- 75. Suzaki Y, Uemura N, Takada M, et al. The effect of carboxylesterase 1 (CES1) polymorphisms on the pharmacokinetics of oseltamivir in humans. *Eur J Clin Pharmacol.* 2013;69(1):21-30.
- Zhao Z, Li X, Sun S, et al. Impact of genetic polymorphisms related to clopidogrel or acetylsalicylic acid pharmacology on clinical outcome in Chinese patients with symptomatic extracranial or intracranial stenosis. *Eur J Clin Pharmacol.* 2016;72(10):1195-1204.
- 77. Hamzic S, Kummer D, Milesi S, et al. Novel Genetic Variants in Carboxylesterase 1 Predict Severe Early-Onset Capecitabine-Related Toxicity. *Clin Pharmacol Ther.* 2017;102(5):796-804.
- 78. Wang X, Rida N, Shi J, Wu AH, Bleske BE, Zhu HJ. A Comprehensive Functional Assessment of Carboxylesterase 1 Nonsynonymous Polymorphisms. *Drug Metab Dispos.* 2017;45(11):1149-1155.
- 79. Zhu HJ, Appel DI, Jiang Y, Markowitz JS. Age- and Sex-Related Expression and Activity of Carboxylesterase 1 and 2 in Mouse and Human Liver. *Drug Metab Dispos.* 2009;37(9):1819-1825.
- 80. Hines RN, Simpson PM, McCarver DG. Age-Dependent Human Hepatic Carboxylesterase 1 (CES1) and Carboxylesterase 2 (CES2) Postnatal Ontogeny. *Drug Metab Dispos.* 2016;44(7):959-966.
- 81. Boberg M, Vrana M, Mehrotra A, et al. Age-Dependent Absolute Abundance of Hepatic Carboxylesterases (CES1 and CES2) by LC-MS/MS Proteomics: Application to PBPK Modeling of Oseltamivir In Vivo Pharmacokinetics in Infants. *Drug Metab Dispos.* 2017;45(2):216-223.
- 82. Yang DF, Pearce RE, Wang XL, Gaedigk R, Wan YJY, Yan BF. Human carboxylesterases HCE1 and HCE2: Ontogenic expression, inter-individual

variability and differential hydrolysis of oseltamivir, aspirin, deltamethrin and permethrin. *Biochemical Pharmacology.* 2009;77(2):238-247.

- 83. Shi D, Yang D, Prinssen EP, Davies BE, Yan B. Surge in expression of carboxylesterase 1 during the post-neonatal stage enables a rapid gain of the capacity to activate the anti-influenza prodrug oseltamivir. *J Infect Dis.* 2011;203(7):937-942.
- 84. Zhu HJ, Patrick KS, Straughn AB, et al. Ethanol Interactions With Dexmethylphenidate and dl-Methylphenidate Spheroidal Oral Drug Absorption Systems in Healthy Volunteers. *J Clin Psychopharmacol.* 2017;37(4):419-428.
- 85. Patrick KS, Straughn AB, Reeves OT, et al. Differential Influences of Ethanol on Early Exposure to Racemic Methylphenidate Compared with Dexmethylphenidate in Humans. *Drug Metab Dispos.* 2013;41(1):197-205.
- 86. Zhu HJ, Patrick KS, Markowitz JS. Enantiospecific determination of DLmethylphenidate and DL-ethylphenidate in plasma by liquid chromatographytandem mass spectrometry: Application to human ethanol interactions. *J Chromatogr B.* 2011;879(11-12):783-788.
- 87. Bell GH, Novak AJ, Griffin WC, Patrick KS. Transdermal and Oral dl-Methylphenidate-Ethanol Interactions in C57BL/6J Mice: Transesterification to Ethylphenidate and Elevation of d-Methylphenidate Concentrations. *J Pharm Sci-Us.* 2011;100(7):2966-2978.
- 88. Griffin WC, 3rd, McGovern RW, Bell GH, Randall PK, Middaugh LD, Patrick KS. Interactive effects of methylphenidate and alcohol on discrimination, conditioned place preference and motor coordination in C57BL/6J mice. *Psychopharmacology (Berl).* 2013;225(3):613-625.
- 89. Griffin WC, Novak AJ, Middaugh LD, Patrick KS. The interactive effects of methylphenidate and ethanol on ethanol consumption and locomotor activity in mice. *Pharmacol Biochem Be.* 2010;95(3):267-272.
- 90. Parker RB, Hu ZY, Meibohm B, Laizure SC. Effects of alcohol on human carboxylesterase drug metabolism. *Clin Pharmacokinet.* 2015;54(6):627-638.
- Hu ZY, Edginton AN, Laizure SC, Parker RB. Physiologically Based Pharmacokinetic Modeling of Impaired Carboxylesterase-1 Activity: Effects on Oseltamivir Disposition (vol 53, pg 825, 2014). *Clinical Pharmacokinetics.* 2014;53(10):959-959.
- 92. Qian YL, Wang XW, Markowitz JS. In Vitro Inhibition of Carboxylesterase 1 by Major Cannabinoids and Selected Metabolites. *Drug Metab Dispos.* 2019;47(5):465-472.

- 93. Hasin DS. US Epidemiology of Cannabis Use and Associated Problems. *Neuropsychopharmacol.* 2018;43(1):195-212.
- 94. Rhoades JA, Peterson YK, Zhu HJ, Appel DI, Peloquin CA, Markowitz JS. Prediction and In Vitro Evaluation of Selected Protease Inhibitor Antiviral Drugs as Inhibitors of Carboxylesterase 1: A Potential Source of Drug-Drug Interactions. *Pharm Res-Dordr.* 2012;29(4):972-982.
- 95. Zhu HJ, Appel DI, Peterson YK, Wang ZC, Markowitz JS. Identification of selected therapeutic agents as inhibitors of carboxylesterase 1: Potential sources of metabolic drug interactions. *Toxicology*. 2010;270(2-3):59-65.
- 96. Thomsen R, Rasmussen HB, Linnet K. In Vitro Drug Metabolism by Human Carboxylesterase 1 with Focus on Angiotensin-Converting Enzyme Inhibitors. *Drug Metab Rev.* 2014;45:192-193.
- 97. Williams ET, Carlson JE, Lai WG, et al. Investigation of the metabolism of rufinamide and its interaction with valproate. *Drug Metab Lett.* 2011;5(4):280-289.
- Briand E, Thomsen R, Linnet K, Rasmussen HB, Brunak S, Taboureau O. Combined Ensemble Docking and Machine Learning in Identification of Therapeutic Agents with Potential Inhibitory Effect on Human CES1. *Molecules*. 2019;24(15).
- 99. Crow JA, Herring KL, Xie S, Borazjani A, Potter PM, Ross MK. Inhibition of carboxylesterase activity of THP1 monocytes/macrophages and recombinant human carboxylesterase 1 by oxysterols and fatty acids. *Biochim Biophys Acta*. 2010;1801(1):31-41.
- 100. Staudinger JL, Xu C, Cui YJ, Klaassen CD. Nuclear receptor-mediated regulation of carboxylesterase expression and activity. *Expert Opin Drug Metab Toxicol.* 2010;6(3):261-271.
- 101. Jones RD, Taylor AM, Tong EY, Repa JJ. Carboxylesterases Are Uniquely Expressed among Tissues and Regulated by Nuclear Hormone Receptors in the Mouse. *Drug Metab Dispos.* 2013;41(1):40-49.
- 102. Shi D, Yang J, Yang DF, Yan B. Dexamethasone suppresses the expression of multiple rat carboxylesterases through transcriptional repression: Evidence for an involvement of the glucocorticoid receptor. *Toxicology.* 2008;254(1-2):97-105.
- 103. Xu JS, Yin LY, Xu Y, et al. Hepatic Carboxylesterase 1 Is Induced by Glucose and Regulates Postprandial Glucose Levels. *Plos One.* 2014;9(10).
- 104. Xiao D, Chen YT, Yang D, Yan B. Age-related inducibility of carboxylesterases by the antiepileptic agent phenobarbital and implications in drug metabolism and lipid accumulation. *Biochem Pharmacol.* 2012;84(2):232-239.

- Kristensen KE, Zhu HJ, Wang X, et al. Clopidogrel Bioactivation and Risk of Bleeding in Patients Cotreated With Angiotensin-Converting Enzyme Inhibitors After Myocardial Infarction: A Proof-of-Concept Study. *Clin Pharmacol Ther.* 2014;96(6):713-722.
- 106. Cressman AM, Macdonald EM, Fernandes KA, et al. A population-based study of the drug interaction between clopidogrel and angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitors. *Brit J Clin Pharmaco.* 2015;80(4):662-669.
- 107. Friedrichsen M, Poulsen P, Wojtaszewski J, Hansen PR, Vaag A, Rasmussen HB. Carboxylesterase 1 gene duplication and mRNA expression in adipose tissue are linked to obesity and metabolic function. *PLoS One.* 2013;8(2):e56861.
- 108. Lian JH, Bahitham W, Panigrahi R, et al. Genetic variation in human carboxylesterase CES1 confers resistance to hepatic steatosis. *Bba-Mol Cell Biol L.* 2018;1863(7):688-699.
- 109. Kaddurah-Daouk R, Hankemeier T, Scholl EH, et al. Pharmacometabolomics Informs About Pharmacokinetic Profile of Methylphenidate. *Cpt-Pharmacomet Syst.* 2018;7(8):525-533.
- 110. Bell GH, Griffin WC, 3rd, Patrick KS. Oral and transdermal DL-methylphenidateethanol interactions in C57BL/6J mice: potentiation of locomotor activity with oral delivery. *Pharmacol Biochem Behav.* 2011;100(2):264-270.
- 111. Her LH, Wang X, Shi J, et al. Effect of CES1 genetic variation on enalapril steady-state pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics in healthy subjects. *Br J Clin Pharmacol.* 2021.
- 112. Stevens PE, Levin A, Kidney Disease: Improving Global Outcomes Chronic Kidney Disease Guideline Development Work Group M. Evaluation and management of chronic kidney disease: synopsis of the kidney disease: improving global outcomes 2012 clinical practice guideline. *Ann Intern Med.* 2013;158(11):825-830.
- 113. Yancy CW, Jessup M, Bozkurt B, et al. 2017 ACC/AHA/HFSA Focused Update of the 2013 ACCF/AHA Guideline for the Management of Heart Failure: A Report of the American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association Task Force on Clinical Practice Guidelines and the Heart Failure Society of America. *Circulation.* 2017;136(6):e137-e161.
- 114. James PA, Oparil S, Carter BL, et al. 2014 evidence-based guideline for the management of high blood pressure in adults: report from the panel members appointed to the Eighth Joint National Committee (JNC 8). *JAMA*. 2014;311(5):507-520.

- 115. Prescription data source: Medical Expenditure Panel Survey (MEPS) 2008-2018. Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (AHRQ) R, MD. Enalapril Maleate. Drug Usage Statistics, United States, 2008 - 2018.
- 116. Alexander SPH, Fabbro D, Kelly E, et al. THE CONCISE GUIDE TO PHARMACOLOGY 2019/20: Enzymes. *Br J Pharmacol.* 2019;176 Suppl 1:S297-S396.
- 117. Donnelly R, Meredith PA, Elliott HL, Reid JL. Kinetic-dynamic relations and individual responses to enalapril. *Hypertension.* 1990;15(3):301-309.
- 118. Parati G, Castiglioni P, Omboni S, Faini A. Effects on 24-hour blood pressure variability of ace-inhibition and calcium channel blockade as monotherapy or in combination. *Sci Rep.* 2018;8(1):13779.
- 119. Webb AJ, Fischer U, Mehta Z, Rothwell PM. Effects of antihypertensive-drug class on interindividual variation in blood pressure and risk of stroke: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Lancet.* 2010;375(9718):906-915.
- 120. Magvanjav O, Gong Y, McDonough CW, et al. Genetic Variants Associated With Uncontrolled Blood Pressure on Thiazide Diuretic/beta-Blocker Combination Therapy in the PEAR (Pharmacogenomic Evaluation of Antihypertensive Responses) and INVEST (International Verapamil-SR Trandolapril Study) Trials. J Am Heart Assoc. 2017;6(11).
- 121. Stage C, Jurgens G, Guski LS, et al. The Pharmacokinetics of Enalapril in Relation to CES1 Genotype in Healthy Danish Volunteers. *Basic Clin Pharmacol Toxicol.* 2017;121(6):487-492.
- 122. Tarkiainen EK, Tornio A, Holmberg MT, et al. Effect of carboxylesterase 1 c.428G>A single nucleotide variation on the pharmacokinetics of quinapril and enalapril. *British journal of clinical pharmacology.* 2015;80(5):1131-1138.
- 123. Zain-Hamid R, Ismail Z, Mahendra Raj S, Shuaib IL, Mohsin SS. The Pharmacokinetics of Single Dose vs Steady-State Doses of Propranolol in Cirrhotic Malay Patients. *Malays J Med Sci.* 2002;9(1):16-20.
- 124. Chen L, Zhou L, Huang J, et al. Single- and Multiple-Dose Trials to Determine the Pharmacokinetics, Safety, Tolerability, and Sex Effect of Oral Ginsenoside Compound K in Healthy Chinese Volunteers. *Front Pharmacol.* 2017;8:965.
- 125. Riley LJ, Jr., Vlasses PH, Ferguson RK. Clinical pharmacology and therapeutic applications of the new oral converting enzyme inhibitor, enalapril. *Am Heart J.* 1985;109(5 Pt 1):1085-1089.
- 126. Ulm EH, Hichens M, Gomez HJ, et al. Enalapril maleate and a lysine analogue (MK-521): disposition in man. *Br J Clin Pharmacol.* 1982;14(3):357-362.

- 127. Vlasses PH, Larijani GE, Conner DP, Ferguson RK. Enalapril, a nonsulfhydryl angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitor. *Clin Pharm.* 1985;4(1):27-40.
- Lewis JP, Horenstein RB, Ryan K, et al. The functional G143E variant of carboxylesterase 1 is associated with increased clopidogrel active metabolite levels and greater clopidogrel response. *Pharmacogenet Genomics*. 2013;23(1):1-8.
- 129. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services FaDA, Center for Drug Evaluation and Research (CDER), C.f.V.M. (CVM). Guidance for Industry: Bioanalytical Method Validation. 2013.
- 130. Administration FaD. Bioanalytical Method Validation Guidance for Industry. 2018.
- 131. Zhu H-J, Appel DI, Jiang Y, Markowitz JS. Age- and sex-related expression and activity of carboxylesterase 1 and 2 in mouse and human liver. *Drug metabolism and disposition: the biological fate of chemicals.* 2009;37(9):1819-1825.
- 132. Williams SF, Nicholas SB, Vaziri ND, Norris KC. African Americans, hypertension and the renin angiotensin system. *World J Cardiol.* 2014;6(9):878-889.
- 133. Zhu HJ, Patrick KS, Yuan HJ, et al. Two CES1 gene mutations lead to dysfunctional carboxylesterase 1 activity in man: clinical significance and molecular basis. *Am J Hum Genet.* 2008;82(6):1241-1248.
- De Ponti F, Marelli C, D'Angelo L, et al. Pharmacological activity and safety of trandolapril (RU 44570) in healthy volunteers. *Eur J Clin Pharmacol.* 1991;40(2):149-153.
- 135. Marzo A, Dal Bo L, Mazzucchelli P, et al. Pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic comparative study of zofenopril and enalapril in healthy volunteers. *Arzneimittelforschung.* 2002;52(4):233-242.
- 136. He B, Shi J, Wang X, Jiang H, Zhu HJ. Label-free absolute protein quantification with data-independent acquisition. *J Proteomics.* 2019;200:51-59.
- 137. Shi J, Wang X, Nguyen J, Wu AH, Bleske BE, Zhu HJ. Sacubitril Is Selectively Activated by Carboxylesterase 1 (CES1) in the Liver and the Activation Is Affected by CES1 Genetic Variation. *Drug metabolism and disposition: the biological fate of chemicals.* 2016;44(4):554-559.
- 138. Shi J, Xiao J, Li J, et al. FRACPRED-2D-PRM: A Fraction Prediction Algorithm-Assisted 2D Liquid Chromatography-Based Parallel Reaction Monitoring-Mass Spectrometry Approach for Measuring Low-Abundance Proteins in Human Plasma. *Proteomics.* 2020:e2000175.
- 139. Achour B, Al-Majdoub ZM, Grybos-Gajniak A, et al. Liquid Biopsy Enables Quantification of the Abundance and Interindividual Variability of Hepatic

Enzymes and Transporters. *Clinical Pharmacology & Therapeutics.* 2021;109(1):222-232.

- 140. Stanisz B. Kinetics of degradation of enalapril maleate in dosage forms. *Acta Pol Pharm.* 2004;61(6):415-418.
- 141. Roskar R, Simoncic Z, Gartner A, Kmetec V. Stability of new potential ACE inhibitor in the aqueous solutions of different pH. *J Pharm Biomed Anal.* 2009;49(2):295-303.
- 142. Faisal M, Cawello W, Burckhardt BB, Laer S. Model-dependent pharmacokinetic analysis of enalapril administered to healthy adult volunteers using orodispersible minitablets for use in pediatrics. *Drug Des Devel Ther.* 2019;13:481-490.
- 143. Her L, Shi, J, Zhu, HJ. A liquid chromatography- parallel reaction monitoring mass spectrometry method for the quantification of enalapril and its active metabolite enalaprilat in human plasma. [Submitted].
- 144. Halder D, Dan S, Pal MM, et al. LC-MS/MS assay for quantitation of enalapril and enalaprilat in plasma for bioequivalence study in Indian subjects. *Future Sci OA.* 2017;3(1):FSO165.
- 145. Dayyih WA, Hamad M, Awwad AA, et al. A Liquid Chromatography-Tandem Mass Spectrometry Method for Evaluation of Two Brands of Enalapril 20 mg Tablets in Healthy Human Volunteers. *J Anal Methods Chem.* 2017;2017:8489471.
- 146. Mohammad MA, Mahrouse MA, Amer EAH, Elharati NS. Validated LC-MS/MS method for the simultaneous determination of enalapril maleate, nitrendipine, hydrochlorothiazide, and their major metabolites in human plasma. *Biomed Chromatogr.* 2020;34(12):e4955.
- 147. Lu S, Jiang K, Qin F, Lu X, Li F. Simultaneous quantification of enalapril and enalaprilat in human plasma by high-performance liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry and its application in a pharmacokinetic study. *J Pharm Biomed Anal.* 2009;49(1):163-167.
- 148. Vidova V, Spacil Z. A review on mass spectrometry-based quantitative proteomics: Targeted and data independent acquisition. *Analytica chimica acta*. 2017;964:7-23.
- 149. Rauniyar N. Parallel reaction monitoring: a targeted experiment performed using high resolution and high mass accuracy mass spectrometry. *International journal of molecular sciences.* 2015;16(12):28566-28581.
- 150. Verbeeck RK, Kanfer I, Lobenberg R, et al. Biowaiver Monographs for Immediate-Release Solid Oral Dosage Forms: Enalapril. *J Pharm Sci.* 2017;106(8):1933-1943.

- 151. Lennernas H. Human intestinal permeability. J Pharm Sci. 1998;87(4):403-410.
- 152. Patchett AA. The chemistry of enalapril. *Br J Clin Pharmacol.* 1984;18 Suppl 2:201S-207S.
- 153. Kasim NA, Whitehouse M, Ramachandran C, et al. Molecular properties of WHO essential drugs and provisional biopharmaceutical classification. *Mol Pharm.* 2004;1(1):85-96.
- 154. Avdeef A, Berger CM. pH-metric solubility. 3. Dissolution titration template method for solubility determination. *Eur J Pharm Sci.* 2001;14(4):281-291.
- 155. Kwon JH, Lee HJ, Escher BI. Bioavailability of hydrophobic organic chemicals on an in vitro metabolic transformation using rat liver S9 fraction. *Toxicol in Vitro.* 2020;66.
- 156. Zhou J, Liu H, Liu Y, Liu J, Zhao X, Yin Y. Development and evaluation of a parallel reaction monitoring strategy for large-scale targeted metabolomics quantification. *Analytical chemistry.* 2016;88(8):4478-4486.
- 157. Wong ES, Schmitt BM, Kazachenka A, et al. Interplay of cis and trans mechanisms driving transcription factor binding and gene expression evolution. *Nat Commun.* 2017;8(1):1092.
- 158. Van Dyke K, Lutz S, Mekonnen G, Myers CL, Albert FW. Trans-acting genetic variation affects the expression of adjacent genes. *Genetics*. 2021;217(3).
- 159. Montgomery SB, Dermitzakis ET. From expression QTLs to personalized transcriptomics. *Nature Reviews Genetics.* 2011;12(4):277-282.
- 160. Meiklejohn CD, Coolon JD, Hartl DL, Wittkopp PJ. The roles of cis- and transregulation in the evolution of regulatory incompatibilities and sexually dimorphic gene expression. *Genome Res.* 2014;24(1):84-95.
- 161. Ohtsuki S, Schaefer O, Kawakami H, et al. Simultaneous Absolute Protein Quantification of Transporters, Cytochromes P450, and UDP-Glucuronosyltransferases as a Novel Approach for the Characterization of Individual Human Liver: Comparison with mRNA Levels and Activities. *Drug Metab Dispos.* 2012;40(1):83-92.
- 162. Sanford JC, Wang XW, Shi J, et al. Regulatory effects of genomic translocations at the human carboxylesterase-1 (CES1) gene locus. *Pharmacogenet Genom.* 2016;26(5):197-207.
- 163. Shi J, Wang X, Zhu H, et al. Determining Allele-Specific Protein Expression (ASPE) Using a Novel Quantitative Concatamer Based Proteomics Method. *J Proteome Res.* 2018;17(10):3606-3612.

- 164. Shi J, Wang XW, Lyu LY, Jiang H, Zhu HJ. Comparison of protein expression between human livers and the hepatic cell lines HepG2, Hep3B, and Huh7 using SWATH and MRM-HR proteomics: Focusing on drug-metabolizing enzymes. *Drug Metab Pharmacok.* 2018;33(2):133-140.
- 165. Wang X, He B, Shi J, Li Q, Zhu HJ. Comparative Proteomics Analysis of Human Liver Microsomes and S9 Fractions. *Drug Metab Dispos.* 2020;48(1):31-40.
- 166. Shi J, Wang X, Lyu L, Jiang H, Zhu HJ. Comparison of protein expression between human livers and the hepatic cell lines HepG2, Hep3B, and Huh7 using SWATH and MRM-HR proteomics: Focusing on drug-metabolizing enzymes. *Drug Metab Pharmacokinet.* 2018;33(2):133-140.
- 167. He B, Shi J, Wang X, Jiang H, Zhu HJ. Genome-wide pQTL analysis of protein expression regulatory networks in the human liver. *BMC Biol.* 2020;18(1):97.
- 168. van Heyningen V, Bickmore W. Regulation from a distance: long-range control of gene expression in development and disease. *Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci.* 2013;368(1620):20120372.
- 169. Griffiths AJF MJ, Suzuki DT, et al. An Introduction to Genetic Analysis. 7th edition. New York: W. H. Freeman; 2000. Transcription: an overview of gene regulation in eukaryotes. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK21780/.
- 170. Marees AT, de Kluiver H, Stringer S, et al. A tutorial on conducting genome-wide association studies: Quality control and statistical analysis. *Int J Methods Psychiatr Res.* 2018;27(2):e1608.
- 171. Laizure SC, Herring V, Hu Z, Witbrodt K, Parker RB. The role of human carboxylesterases in drug metabolism: have we overlooked their importance? *Pharmacotherapy.* 2013;33(2):210-222.
- 172. Adams JU. Essentials of Cell Biology. *Nature Education.* 2014.
- 173. Sanford JC, Wang X, Shi J, et al. Regulatory effects of genomic translocations at the human carboxylesterase-1 (CES1) gene locus. *Pharmacogenet Genomics*. 2016;26(5):197-207.
- 174. Ohtsuki S, Schaefer O, Kawakami H, et al. Simultaneous absolute protein quantification of transporters, cytochromes P450, and UDP-glucuronosyltransferases as a novel approach for the characterization of individual human liver: comparison with mRNA levels and activities. *Drug metabolism and disposition: the biological fate of chemicals.* 2012;40(1):83-92.
- 175. Battle A, Khan Z, Wang SH, et al. Genomic variation. Impact of regulatory variation from RNA to protein. *Science*. 2015;347(6222):664-667.

- 176. Chaudhry AS, Prasad B, Shirasaka Y, et al. The CYP2C19 Intron 2 Branch Point SNP is the Ancestral Polymorphism Contributing to the Poor Metabolizer Phenotype in Livers with CYP2C19(star)35 and CYP2C19(star)2 Alleles. *Drug Metab Dispos.* 2015;43(8):1226-1235.
- 177. Phillips KA, Deverka PA, Hooker GW, Douglas MP. Genetic Test Availability And Spending: Where Are We Now? Where Are We Going? *Health Aff (Millwood).* 2018;37(5):710-716.